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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision

to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of

this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Good
Fellow Healthcare Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report

misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Good Fellow Healthcare Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the audited consolidated
financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024
(the "Year").

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The year ended 31 March 2024 was a critical year and full of
challenges for the Group. During the Year, the Group continued to
focus on the provision of general hospital services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"”). The Group's revenue for the
Year was approximately HK$38.962 million (2023: approximately
HK$55.353 million), representing a decrease of approximately
29.61% as compared with 2023. The operating loss from
operation for the Year was approximately HK$16.036 million
(2023: approximately HK$5.237 million). Net loss attributable
to owners of the Company for the Year was approximately
HK$17.110 million (2023: net loss of approximately HK$5.881

million).

OPERATION REVIEW

General hospital services

The Group operates one general hospital in Beijing (2023: one
general hospital in Beijing), in the PRC and continues to allocate
resources to look for business opportunities to expand the hospital
services. The segmental revenue for the Year was approximately
HK$16.036 million (2023: approximately HK$55.353 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 29.61% as compared
with the year ended 31 March 2023.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our customers,
suppliers, business partners for their support. Also, | would like to
offer my highest gratitude to our shareholders for their devotion
and to our employees for their loyalty and contributions made

during the Year.

Ng Chi Lung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE R D

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Summary of the results of the Group for the financial year ended

31 March 2024 is as follows:

o Revenue was approximately HK$38.962 million (2023:

approximately HK$55.353 million), representing a decrease

of approximately 29.61% as compared with last year.

o Gross profit was approximately HK$18.674 million (2023:

approximately HK$27.009 million), representing a decrease

of approximately 30.86% as compared with last year.

o The operating loss from the operation was approximately
HK$16.036 million (2023: approximately HK$5.237 million).
Net loss attributable to owners of the Company was

approximately HK$17.110 million (2023: approximately

HK$5.881 million).

o The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of general

hospital services in the PRC.

Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$38.962 million
(2023: approximately HK$55.353 million) for the year ended
31 March 2024, representing a decrease of approximately 29.61%

as compared with last year.

General hospital services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group operated
one general hospital in Beijing in the PRC (2023: one general
hospitals in Beijing), and was principally engaged in the provision
of general hospital services, including but not limited to medical
wards, surgical wards, medical checkup and examination. The
management envisaged that more diversified hospital services will
be made available to the public to satisfy various needs in the
next few years, from common illness treatments to treatments of
special and difficult diseases. Therefore, the Group will continue to
allocate resources to develop such services either from its existing

hospitals or through collaboration with strategic partners.

Other revenue

Other revenue, primarily including government subsidy, bank
interest income, reversal of provision for legal claims and sundry
income amounted to approximately HK$0.149 million (2023:
approximately HK$5.235 million) for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Other loss
Other loss, primarily loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately HK$2.075 million (2023:

approximately HK$0) for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE BRI

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of (1) salaries
and wages of sales and marketing personnel; (2) depreciation
expense; and (3) transportation expenses. For the year ended
31 March 2024, selling and distribution expenses amounted to
approximately HK$8.918 million (2023: approximately HK$13.553
million), representing a decrease of approximately 34.20% as
compared with last year. Such decrease was due to the suspension
of operation (the “Suspension”) of It REHIERBRAE (for
transliteration purpose only, Beijing Zijing Hospital Co., Limited®)
("Beijing Zijing”) (currently known as It REWMERBRAR)
(for transliteration purpose only, Beijing Huicheng Hospital Co.,
Ltd*), since January 2024 and the operations of Beijing Zijing
remained suspended as at 31 March 2024 and was only resumed
in April 2024. For further details of the Suspension, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 3 January 2024, 31

January 2024 and 22 April 2024.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2024
million (2023:
representing a decrease of

amounted to approximately HK$20.271
approximately HK$23.754 million),
approximately 14.66% as compared with last year. Such decrease
was due to the Suspension, since January 2024 and the operations
of Beijing Zijing remained suspended as at 31 March 2024
and was only resumed in April 2024. For further details of the
Suspension, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 3 January 2024, 31 January 2024 and 22 April 2024.

Finance costs

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the finance costs of the
Group were approximately HK$0.308 million (2023: approximately
HK$0.414 million),
25.60% as compared with last year. Such decrease in finance costs

representing a decrease of approximately

was due to the decrease in interest expenses on lease liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss before taxation

The Group recorded a net loss before taxation of approximately
HK$16.344 million (2023: approximately HK$5.651 million),
representing an increase of approximately 189.22% as compared
with last year.

Dividends
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

Future Prospects

As the Group continues to navigate the complexities of the post-
pandemic environment, the Group's commitment to addressing
the fundamental drivers of healthcare demand, including an
aging population and the universal need for accessible, quality
medical care, remains steadfast. In line with the Group's strategic
focus, the Group is implementing several key initiatives aimed at
enhancing operational efficiency, expanding its service offerings,
and fostering sustainable growth, details of which are set out as

follows:.

Strategic Focus and Market Adaptation

The Group's strategic initiatives are designed to adapt to the
evolving healthcare market, ensuring that the Group remains
agile and responsive to changing patient needs. The Group is
continuously assessing market trends and patient demands to
refine its service offerings and ensure that it provides the highest

quality of care.

Comprehensive Facility Upgrades

The Group is undertaking a comprehensive upgrade of hospital
facilities. This includes the renovation and modernization
of existing treatment areas, the addition of new specialized
treatment rooms, and the enhancement of patient amenities to
improve overall patient experience. These upgrades are designed
to meet the highest standards of healthcare delivery and patient

comfort.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE BRI

Investment in Advanced Medical Technologies

The Group is committed to equipping its facilities with state-of-
the-art medical technologies. These include advanced diagnostic
imaging systems, cutting-edge treatment equipment, and high-
tech sterilization units. These investments will significantly
enhance the quality and efficiency of the Group's medical services,

ensuring that patients receive the best possible care.

Strategic Collaborations and Talent Acquisition

To support the growth of the Group, the Group has established
strategic partnerships with leading healthcare institutions and is
attracting top-tier professionals and specialists to join the Group.
These collaborations and talent acquisitions will strengthen the
Group’s service capabilities and enhance its reputation in the
healthcare industry. The Group is also working with international

experts to bring world-class medical practices to its facilities.

Enhanced Patient Experience

The Group’s facilities are being upgraded to offer a patient-centric
environment with a focus on comfort and convenience. The Group
is implementing digital health solutions, streamlining processes,
and ensuring exceptional customer service. The goal of the Group
is to provide a seamless and efficient patient experience that

meets the highest standards of care.

Strengthening Regulatory Compliance and Quality
Assurance

The Group is enhancing its regulatory compliance and quality
assurance measures to ensure uninterrupted operations. Such
measures include rigorous internal audits, continuous staff
training on compliance protocols, and the implementation of
advanced monitoring systems to ensure adherence to regulatory
standards. These measures will help the Group maintain
operational continuity and avoid potential issues relating to non-

compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Community Engagement and Social Responsibility

The Group is dedicated to giving back to the community and
promoting health awareness. The Group’s outreach programs
provide education on preventive care and health maintenance.
The Group aims to make a positive impact on public health and

contribute to the well-being of the community.

Financial Prudence and Sustainability

The Group is maintaining a strong focus on financial prudence
and sustainability. The Group's investments are carefully planned
and fully funded, ensuring that the Group manages its resources
effectively. The Group is committed to maintaining financial
stability while pursuing growth opportunities that align with its

strategic objectives.

By focusing on the above strategic initiatives, the Group is
confident in its ability to foster growth and stability in the
coming years. The Group’s commitment to quality, innovation,
and operational excellence will not only meet the evolving needs
of the healthcare market but also deliver consistent value to its

shareholders.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$3.644 million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$17.685 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's bank balances of approximately
RMB1.388 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.503
million) (2023: approximately RMB3.626 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$4.144 million)) was restricted due to the Civil
Judgment | (defined as below in the section headed “Litigations

involving the subsidiaries”) (the “Restricted Sum”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE BRI

The Group recorded total current assets of approximately
HK$8.705 million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$27.062 million) and total current liabilities of approximately
HK$25.615 million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$20.325 million). The current ratio of the Group, calculated
by dividing the current assets by the current liabilities, was
approximately 0.34 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately
1.33).

Gearing ratio, defined as total debts (comprising borrowings and
lease liabilities) less cash and bank balances, divided by total
equity (including all capital and reserves of the Group), maintained
at 610.16% as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: N/A).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no material capital

commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, due to the then
ongoing Civil Complaint | (defined as below in the section
headed

into account of the legal advices,

“Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) and after taking
the deferred revenue of
approximately RMB12.13 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$14.973 million) in relation to the Cooperation Agreement
(defined as below in the section headed “Litigations involving
the subsidiaries”) was transferred to other payable and provision
of payment of liquidated damages and costs of approximately
RMB1.4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.728 million)

has been recognised.
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Pursuant to the Civil Judgment | (defined as below in the section
headed
September 2022 which was upheld by the Shenzhen Intermediate

“Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) received on 6
Court (defined as below in the section headed “Litigations
involving the subsidiaries”) on 31 March 2023, it was ruled that
Edinburgh Hospital Management (defined as below in the section
headed
to China Merchants (defined as below in the section headed

“Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) shall (a) return

“Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) the sum of approximately
RMB4.9 million, being the unutilised funds previously advanced
by China Merchants pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement;
and (b) pay to China Merchants liquidated damages and costs
of approximately RMB1.4 million. In light of the Civil Judgment
I which was upheld by the Shenzhen Intermediate Court on 31
March 2023, the Group has reversed other payable in the amount
of approximately RMB3.981 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$4.557 million) and transferred the same to other revenue for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

Civil Complaint Il

On 13 June 2023, Edinburgh International Diabetes (defined
as below in the section headed “Litigations involving the
subsidiaries”) received the Civil Complaint Il (defined as below in
the section headed “Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) filed
with Qionghai Court by China Merchants, as plaintiff, against
Edinburgh International Diabetes, as defendant, and Edinburgh
Hospital Management, as a third party. Pursuant to the Civil
Complaint Il, China Merchants sought, among other things,
the refund of the remaining balance of the investment amount
of approximately RMB3.2 million (equivalent to approximately

HK$3.625 million) by Edinburgh International Diabetes.

On 11 September 2023, Edinburgh International Diabetes received
the Civil Judgment Il (defined as below in the section headed
“Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) in respect of the Civil
Complaint Il. Pursuant to the Civil Judgment Il, the Qionghai Court
has ordered, among others, that:

(i)  Edinburgh International Diabetes and Edinburgh Hospital
Management to jointly return RMB3.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$3.625 million) to China Merchants; and
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(i) Edinburgh International Diabetes to pay to China Merchants
costs in relation to the Civil Complaint Il in the amount of
approximately RMB37,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$41,914).

As the aggregate amount of the litigation claims of RMB9.547
million (less the Restricted Sum of RMB1.388 million) under the
Civil Judgment | and Civil Judgment Il had already been fully
provided, no further provision in respect of the Civil Judgment |
and Civil Judgment Il was required to be made for the year ended
31 March 2024.

LEGAL PROCEEDING

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements and the paragraph headed “Litigation involving the
subsidiaries”, the Group did not have material legal proceedings

as at 31 March 2024.

FINANCING AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group continues to adopt prudent financing and treasury
policies. All the Group’'s financing and treasury activities are
centrally managed and controlled. Implementation of the
Group's related policies is made under collective but extensive
considerations on liquidity risk, financing cost and exchange rate

risk.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Since almost all transactions of the Group are denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars and most of the bank deposits
are being kept in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars to minimise
exposure to foreign exchange risk, the Directors consider the
Group’s risk exposure to currency fluctuations to be minimal.
Therefore, the Group had not implemented any formal hedging
or other alternative policies to deal with such exposure during the
year ended 31 March 2024. The Directors will continue to monitor
foreign exchange exposure and will consider to implement
hedging policies should the need arises.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no bank
borrowings and had no charges on any assets of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of the Group
was principally generated from provision of general hospital
services. Financial information in respect of these operations is
presented in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, the total issued share capital of the
Company was approximately HK$29.168 million (2023:
approximately HK$29.168 million) comprising (i) 563,649,988
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each; and (ii) 19,700,000 preference
shares of HK$0.05 each (2023: 563,649,988 ordinary shares of
HK$0.05 each (restated) and 19,700,000 preference shares of
HK$0.05 each (restated)).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 137 (2023: 139) full time
employees (including Directors and senior management) as shown
in the following table:
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For the year ended 31 March 2024, staff costs (including Directors
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$22.669 million
(2023: approximately HK$25.757 million). The Group remunerates
its employees based on individual performance and qualification.
Apart from the basic remuneration, staff benefits include the
contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, bonus
and medical coverage in Hong Kong; and basic insurance for
the elderly, basic medical insurance, work injury insurance and
unemployment insurance to the employees in the PRC. The Group
also adopted employee share option schemes to provide eligible
employees a performance incentive for continuous and improved
services with the Group and to enhance their contributions to
increase profits by encouraging capital accommodation and
share ownership. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were no
outstanding share options under the share option schemes.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant investment held by the

Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material investments and

capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year ended 31
March 2024.

LITIGATION INVOLVING THE SUBSIDIARIES

Civil Complaint |

On 9 March 2022, Edinburgh International Hospital Management
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.* (BT EBKREREIE (XY BRAA)
(“Edinburgh Hospital Management”), an indirect subsidiary of
the Company, received a civil complaint (the “Civil Complaint
1") filed with the People’s Court of Qianhai Shenzhen City* GFHI
BB &S E&E ARER) by China Merchants Hainan Development
Investment Co. Ltd.* (BB EEHEBKREARASE)("China
Merchants”) as plaintiff against Edinburgh Hospital Management
as defendant, and Edinburgh International Diabetes Hospital
Co. Ltd" (BT ERKRERKFER (B BRA
&) ("Edinburgh International Diabetes”), a subsidiary of

(Hainan)

Edinburgh Hospital Management, as a third party.
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Pursuant to the Civil Complaint I, China Merchants sought,
among other things, to terminate a cooperation agreement (the
“Cooperation Agreement”) dated 31 July 2020 entered into
between China Merchants and Edinburgh Hospital Management
in relation to, among other things, the provision of funds
by China Merchants for the establishment and operation of
the international diabetes center in Hainan (the "“IDC”) and
the provision of management services by Edinburgh Hospital
Management or its subsidiary to the IDC, the refund of
approximately RMB12.13 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$14.973 million) by Edinburgh Hospital Management, being
the aggregate of funds already advanced by China Merchants
pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, payment of liquidated
damages under the Cooperation Agreement and costs in
relation to the Civil Complaint | of approximately RMB1.4 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1.728 million).

For more details of the Civil Complaint I, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2022.

On 6 September 2022, Edinburgh Hospital Management received
the civil judgment’ (REFIRE) (the “Civil Judgment 1”) of
the People’s Court of Qianhai Cooperation District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province* (BR & FINAIEEEE AR ZERR) (the
“Qianhai Court”) in respect of the Civil Complaint I.

Pursuant to the Civil Judgment I, the Qianhai Court has ordered,

among others, that:

(i)  the Cooperation Agreement be terminated;

(i)  Edinburgh Hospital Management to return to China
Merchants the sum of approximately RMB4.9 million, being
the unutilised funds previously advanced by China Merchants
to Edinburgh Hospital Management pursuant to the

Cooperation Agreement; and

(iii)  Edinburgh Hospital Management to pay to China Merchants
liquidated damages under the Cooperation Agreement and
costs in relation to the Civil Complaint | in the amount of

approximately RMB1.4 million.

BEE KR

RIERSBHRR BEBESK (ERaE) &1
PEREETEREREEN_ZS-_TELA
=+—H#® (HH % HBaRRHESU
RIMEE SmBERERRBF O (TERRER
BHRL)  URBEETEEREERENBA
S M ERERBR O EEERFETET I
aEthE (SEHR)  BETEBREERE
#HANE®12,130,0007c (FBEH4914,973,000
B BB ABRRESEHBECRNZE
TR ZNEEBBEETZENBESR
HREFRRNBRAZERLNARE,400,0007T
(HHE 491,728,000 7T) °

EMREFRZESHEESMEATAH
ATE--E=A+AZAL.

RZBZ_—_FABANA BETERKREERK
FEREFNIABSEE AR ER (TAIEZ
) BERREFRRIZESFHRE REHR
£l o

RBERFHREBD AIEERRAS HBaE !

(i) MIEAEHE

(i BETEEREEODBARRERELOA
R #4,900,0007c BMBE B LRI iRIES
EHZERAETEBREERMCZEXE
BE®;, &

iy BTEREBREEAEEREZTEERS
BETRTZEBNBESREARSHRNRIERZ
ERE£EN AR1,400,0007T °

THBREBRBRAT 2023/2024 F3R

19



20

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE BRI

For more details of the Civil Judgment |, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 7 September 2022.

Following the Civil Judgment I, (i) China Merchants has filed
an appeal with the Intermediate People’s Court of Shenzhen
Province® GRIITFTH LR AR AR (the “Shenzhen Intermediate
Court”) to sought for full refund of approximately RMB12.13
million (equivalent to approximately HK$14.973 million) pursuant
to the Civil Complaint I; and (ii) Edinburgh Hospital Management
has also filed an appeal with the Shenzhen Intermediate Court to
rule against the termination of the Cooperation Agreement, the
refund of any sum advanced by China Merchants and the payment
of liquidated damages. On 31 March 2023, the Shenzhen
Intermediate Court has ordered the appeals be rejected and the
Civil Judgment | be upheld.

On 11 May 2023, China Merchants applied for compulsory
execution of the Civil Judgment | with Qianhai Court. On 20
November 2023, Qianhai Court issued its judgment to enforce the

execution procedures in relation to the Civil Judgment I.

As at the date of this report, Edinburgh Hospital Management is
yet to make payment of approximately RMB5.9 million to China

Merchants pursuant to the Civil Judgment I.

Civil Complaint Il

On 13 June 2023, Edinburgh International Diabetes (defined
as below in the section headed “Litigations involving the
subsidiaries”) received the Civil Complaint Il (defined as below in
the section headed “Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) filed
with Qionghai Court by China Merchants, as plaintiff, against
Edinburgh International Diabetes, as defendant, and Edinburgh
Hospital Management, as a third party. Pursuant to the Civil
Complaint I, China Merchants sought, among other things,
the refund of the remaining balance of the investment amount
of approximately RMB3.2 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$3.625 million) by Edinburgh International Diabetes.
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On 11 September 2023, Edinburgh International Diabetes received
the Civil Judgment Il (defined as below in the section headed
“Litigations involving the subsidiaries”) in respect of the Civil
Complaint II. Pursuant to the Civil Judgment I, the Qionghai Court
has ordered, among others, that:

(i)  Edinburgh International Diabetes and Edinburgh Hospital
Management to jointly return RMB3.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$3.625 million) to China Merchants; and

(i) Edinburgh International Diabetes to pay to China Merchants
costs in relation to the Civil Complaint Il in the amount of
approximately RMB37,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$41,914).

On 12 March 2024, China Merchants applied for compulsory
execution of the Civil Judgment Il with Qionghai Court.

As at the date of this report, the compulsory execution of the Civil
Judgment Il has not been enforced.

The Company will keep its shareholders and investors informed
of any significant development of the above proceedings and
will make further announcement(s) as and when appropriate in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION AND CHANGE IN
BOARD LOT SIZE

On 9 August 2023, the Board proposes to implement the Share
Consolidation on the basis that (i) every five (5) issued and
unissued Existing Shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Then Existing
Shares”) to be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share
of HK$0.05 each; and (ii) every five (5) issued and unissued
Existing Preference Shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Then Existing
Preference Shares”) to be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated
Preference Share of HK$0.05 each (the “Share Consolidation”).
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The Existing Shares were traded on the Stock Exchange in board
lot size of 4,000 Existing Shares. The Board also proposed to
change the board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange
from 4,000 Existing Shares to 10,000 Consolidated Shares (the
“Change in Board Lot Size”) subject to and upon the Share

Consolidation becoming effective.

Following the passing of the ordinary resolution approving the
Share Consolidation by the shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 11 September
2023, and the fulfillment of all the conditions precedent of the
Share Consolidation, the Share Consolidation and the Change in

Board Lot Size became effective on 13 September 2023.

For more details concerning the Share Consolidation and the
Change in Board Lot Size, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 9 August 2023, 11 September 2023 and
12 September 2023, and the circular of the Company dated 23
August 2023.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this

report, the following changes had taken place to the Board:

(i)  Mr. Zheng Gang resigned from his position as an executive
Director and a member of the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company with effect
from 22 August 2023,

(i) Mr. Wu Qiyou was appointed as an executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from
22 August 2023;
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(iii)  Dr.

independent non-executive Director, a member each of

Lam Huen Sum resigned from his position as an

the Remuneration Committee, the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) and the nomination and corporate
governance committee of the Company (the “Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee”) with effect from
18 January 2024; and

(iv)  Mr. Lin Yaomin was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with

effect from 17 April 2024.

For further details in relation to the above changes, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 22 August 2023, 18
January 2024 and 17 April 2024.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN RESPECT OF

THE TENANCY AGREEMENT

On 20 March 2024, Good Fellow Development Limited (& &
BIBAMRAT) (an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), as tenant, and Fujian Properties Limited. (ZER¥) %
AMRATF), as landlord, entered into the tenancy agreement in
respect of the lease of the property located at Unit No. 3309 on
the Thirty Third Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, Nos. 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong for a term of two years,
commencing from 1 February 2024 and ending on 31 January
2026 (both days inclusive) at a monthly rent of HK$108,810 for
office.

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 March 2024.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save for the Civil Judgment Il as disclosed in the section headed
“Litigations involving the subsidiaries” and the appointment of
Mr. Lin Yaomin as the independent non-executive Director as
disclosed in the section headed “Change of Directors” above in
this report, there are no other significant events after the year
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material for the time
being but may be material in the future.

Market Risks

As the PRC government has recently restructured its central
ministries and agencies responsible for the healthcare affairs, the
functions of different departments are being reassigned, thus
potentially slowing down the procedures and work in relation
to the hospital operations and management engaged by the
Company. The changes will also have some potential impact on the
establishment of policies and regulations at various levels of the
local governments which may impose risks on the execution of the
Group's marketing plans and implementation of the cooperation.

Operational Risks

It is noted that the regional governance of the hospitals in the
PRC varies from city to city due to the different focuses on
local medical services and social welfare. This will certainly have
some impact on the Group's operations because the Group
manages hospitals located in different cities in the PRC. This has
been and will be a huge challenge to the management for the
standardisation and consistency of hospital operations. The Group
will comply with the regional policy as well as the core guidelines
issued by the central government to ensure the smooth and
effective operation.
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Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Profiles

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Chi Lung (“Mr. Ng"),
experience in founding new business and commercial

aged 35, has ten years of

management. Mr. Ng studied at Macquarie University (major
in accounting) in Australia after obtained his diploma from
the Sydney Institute of Business and Technology in 2008.
Since February 2012, Mr. Ng founded and managed business
including the scope of manufacturing and services sector. He
was an executive director of Yueshou Environmental Holdings
Limited (currently known as China Gem Holdings Limited) (stock
code:1191), being a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, from September 2014 to April 2016. He was also
a vice chairman and an executive director of Theme International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 990), being a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to July 2018.
Mr. Ng was appointed as an executive Director and chairman of
the Board on 23 July 2018. Mr. Ng is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Wu Qiyou (“Mr. Wu"),
expertise in business management, strategic planning and risk

aged 31, possesses profound

management. Mr. Wu obtained a Bachelor of Business (Banking
and Finance) from the Monash University in 2016 and a Master of
Business Administration from the same university in 2022.

From 2016 to 2020, Mr. Wu served as an investment manager at
Cornerstone Capital Investment Group Pty Ltd, leading multiple
commercial real estate projects involving retirement and medical
assets, monitoring compliance and conducting risk control for
those projects. From 2021 to 2022, Mr. Wu was a member of
the management team at Lunghealth Medtech Company Limited,
spearheading the strategic rollout of the magnetic navigation
bronchoscope system in the Chinese market, ensuring the safety
of the product and overseeing the compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations. In December 2022, Mr. Wu founded
Dynamiq Advisory Pte Ltd (“Dynamiq Advisory”) and has been the
chief executive officer Dynamiq Advisory thereafter, providing its
clients with comprehensive corporate services, including but not
limited to compliance and risk management services.

Mr. Wu was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
22 August 2023.
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Directors’ and Senior Management's Profiles

EFhEREEBAEHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne ("Ms. Wong"), aged 60, has over 30
years of experience in finance, accounting, taxation and corporate
affairs. She is a member of the Chartered Accountants in Australia
and New Zealand, a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Society
of Trust and Estate Practitioner and the Certified Tax Advisor in
Hong Kong. Ms. Wong holds a bachelor degree in economics
from the University of Sydney, Australia. Ms. Wong is currently
the managing director of a private company providing consulting
and management services, as well as the chief financial officer
of a local law firm and consultant of a local CPA firm. Ms. Wong
is currently an independent non-executive director of Phoenitron
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8066), being a company listed on
GEM. Ms. Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 1 November 2007.

Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur (“Mr. Lau”), aged 42, holds a bachelor
degree of laws from The London School of Economics and Political
Science and a master of economics from The University of Hong
Kong. He is licenced to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities)
and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

Mr. Lau has over 17 years of experience spanning hedge
fund, private equity and investment banking in Asia. He is
the co-founder and currently a partner of Ark Pacific Capital
Management, a multi-strategy alternative asset manager focusing
in Greater China. He was investment director of Elliott Advisors
(HK) Ltd (“Elliott”), the Asian arm of Elliott Associates, a global
multi-strategy hedge fund. During his tenure at Elliott, he was
responsible for investments across asset classes including publicly-
listed securities, private equity, structured credit, real estate and
fund-of-funds investments in China, Hong Kong and South East
Asia. Prior to this, he worked as an investment banker at Citigroup
in the Technology, Media & Telecom team running a wide range
of mergers and acquisitions and corporate finance transactions.
He began his career at JPMorgan’s investment banking division
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is also a member of the Beijing Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Lau was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 4 October 2019.
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Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Profiles

Mr. Lin Yaomin (“Mr. Lin"), aged 64, obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Science from the Nanjing University in 1982 and a
master’s degree in Science from The Chinese Academy of Sciences
(PERIZER) (the “CAS”). Mr. Lin is a senior economist and has
also been designated as a Fellow, Life Management Institute from

Life Office Management. Association since 1999.

Mr. Lin has over 30-year experience in management and in the
industry of financial, medical and healthcare insurance. From
December 1986 to April 1993, Mr. Lin served as the head of
the teaching and research department and the secretary of the
youth league committee at the China Insurance Management
Cadre College. Mr. Lin then served as the general manager at the
Xiamen branch of Ping An Life Insurance Company of China, Ltd
(“Ping An Life"”) for about 5 years from March 1995 to January
2000. From January 2000 to July 2002, Mr. Lin was relocated
to the Hubei branch of the Ping An Life to serve as a general
manager. From June 2006 to March 2015, Mr. Lin joined Kunlun
Health Insurance Co. Ltd. as an executive vice president, with his
last position as the chairman and chief executive officer. In March
2017, Mr. Lin worked as a senior consultant at Airstar Digital
Technology and retired in December 2021. Thereafter, he founded

Insurance Today and has been the director of its research institute.

Mr. Lin was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 17 April 2024.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Williamson (“Mr. Lam”), aged 49, joined the Group in
December 2007. Mr. Lam is the Group’s chief financial officer and
company secretary of the Company. He has more than 20 years’
experience in finance and company secretarial functions. Mr. Lam
is @ member of the Certified Practising Accountant in Australia
and also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants.

EFhEREEBAEHE

MEBIETE (TMELE)) s645 R—AN\Z
FESARAREZEIZURPEMZR
(THhE 20t)) BBET R - MEER—
BLEREEM TR —NAANEEEEESR

EREESg SREEM-

MEEREEREH BEREFRRITEHERE
30FER - B—NAN\RE+TZRE-NA=
FHA MELEERETERRERESRI S
RBEMEETE - BEZEC - MEEHEB
—ANAF=ZRE_ZTEZTF—-BNLEMH
BEFEFZASREROMBRAT (PR
ABNEMPRAEBEE -B_EZTTF—A8
EET_ELtA MELERAETTLZASH
AR ABEEBEERE -B-EFRERAE
—E-HF=ZRA MELEMARESREFRR
ROBRABDEEEBIGH  HRBBMU
AEERRER -RT—tE=R ME&&E
RRXEBRETSHREB TR _T_—F
+TZRRE- LR KALSHFR LIEEH
e =

MELEEB-_ZE_NFHNA+tHEESRE
PBIUIFPITES -

BREEAS

MEELRE (ML) 49 RZZBRLEF
TZRMATEE - MEEREEBZIE
MEREQABTZRAME -BRHUBRAT
MEBB S EERE20F KR MEETHR
NEHMAEEEREREHMREERE

Bo

THBREBRBRAT 2023/2024 F3R

27



28

Corporate Governance Report
TERERBRSG

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the need and importance of
corporate governance as one of the key elements in creating
shareholders’ value. The Company is also committed to achieving
high standard of corporate governance that can properly protect
and promote the interests of all shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability of the Company. The Company
has adopted the principles and code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to

the GEM Listing Rules as its corporate governance practices.

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted a set of code for the required standard
of dealings in securities by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries,
the Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard with respect to the securities dealings of the
Company and there was no event of non-compliance for the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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THE BOARD

The Board assumes overall responsibilities for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company and its business by
directing and supervising the Company's affairs. The Board
focuses on overall corporate strategies and policies with attention

particularly paid to the financial performance of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a
view to ensuring that the Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances

at the Company’s expense, upon making a request to the Board.

There is a clear division of the responsibilities of the Board and
the management. The Board delegated its responsibilities to
the Directors and senior management to deal with day-to-day

operations and review those arrangements on a periodic basis.

Management has to report to the Board and obtain prior approval
before making decisions for key matters or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The Board has a balance
of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of
reference which are disclosed on the Company’s website and the

Stock Exchange’s website.

Appropriate directors’ liability insurance cover has been arranged
to indemnify the Directors for liabilities arising out of corporate
activities. The coverage and the sum insured under the insurance

policy are to be reviewed regularly.
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EEXERERS

Board Composition and Attendance Records of Directors
The Board currently comprises two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, eight full Board meetings were held and
attendance (either in person or through other electronic means
of communication) record of each Director at the meetings of
the Board together with the meetings of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee and general meetings held during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out below.

ESEZHEARESZ HECH
EFCHEREEMURATESR=WUEILIF
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERY, EHYE
Nomination General
and meetings
Corporate held during
Audit  Remuneration Governance the year
Board Committee Committee Committee 2023/2024
m*%::ﬁ/
RER “E-MmE
TEER 872
Name of Directors EENA EXg EREET EMESE %8¢ REAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ng Chi Lung REERE 8/8 N/A R N/A T 22 Wy
Mr. Zheng Gang (Note 1) WEEE (H5E1) 28 N/A RER 12 N/A REH 12
Mr. Wu Qiyou (Note 2) SHERE (f3552) 5/5 N/A R 12 N/A R 12
Independent non- BIFHTESR
executive Directors
Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne BRI 8/8 33 22 2 2
Dr. Lam Huen Sum (Note 3) MAREL (H3) 4/8 23 b)) b)) 22
Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur EELE 8/8 33 22 22 22
Note: MiEE

(1) Mr. Zheng has resigned as an executive Director with effect from 22
August 2023.

(2)  Mr. Wu Qiyou was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 22 August 2023.

(3)  Dr. Lam has resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 18 January 2024.

(1) BWMEEBE-Z_=ZF/N\B-+-HEHRE
BITES-

(2 ZRHKHXEBE-_Z-_=F£/\B-+=-A#E
EREAENITES-

3) MHETEEZZT-NF—A+/\BEHIE
UIFMITES
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“The list of the Directors and their Role and Function” has been
maintained on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Directors’ biographies and the relationship among
the Board members, if any, are disclosed under the section headed
“Directors’” and Senior Management’s Profiles” on pages 25 to 27

of this report.

Given the composition of the Board and the skills, knowledge
and expertise of each Director, the Board believes that it is
appropriately structured to provide sufficient checks and balances
to protect the interests of the Group and the shareholders. The
Board will review its composition regularly to ensure that it has the
appropriate balance of expertise, skills and experience to continue
to effectively oversee the business of the Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

The independent non-executive Directors, with diversified
expertise, skills and experience, play an important role in
formulating strategy and ensuring that the Board maintains high
standards of corporate governance. The Board had received
from each independent non-executive Director a written annual
confirmation in respect of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and is satisfied with the

independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

On a regular basis, senior management provides the Directors with
operational and financial reports reflecting Group’s performance,
position and prospect. All Directors are kept informed of and duly
briefed of major changes and information that may affect the
Group's business in a timely manner.

Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials and has unrestricted access to the advice
from and services of the company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) of the Company, and has the liberty to seek external
professional advice if so required. The Company Secretary
continuously updates all Directors on the latest development
of the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate

governance practice.
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TERERERS

Training and Continuous Development for Directors
Each newly appointed Director is provided with comprehensive
induction to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the operations and businesses of the Group as well as his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. To keep abreast of
responsibilities and conduct as a Director and of the business
activities and development of the Company, the Company had
provided trainings to the Directors in the form of seminars and
reading materials. The Company has devised a training record to
assist the Directors to record the training they have undertaken.
Also, the completed records are received from each of the
Directors as confirmation. In addition, the Group will, if necessary,
provide timely and regular trainings to the Directors to ensure that
they keep abreast of the latest regulatory requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the year ended 31 March 2024 is summarised as follow:

EFREIIRGFEERE

TR REBREREZHESRHEEZEAR
B UEREHAERZEEREHUR
HBSHRGEMEMRAREMEEREET
ERAEEER [T ARHABFEALAH
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AR EFRMUEIN -EATEREFNEH
UGB EERBREFERTZEN -FATF
THREREFRETELEBRIRTEER
ZiEsl e tEoh s FEBMK WELE) BEER
R B R ERIFINIURFREERD T H#GEM
EHRABATHRMEBEERE -

BE_ZE_NF=A=+—HLEEE 8
BRIEBINEFEACEHLLT

Reading
Seminars materials
et & BB
Executive Directors WITES

Mr. Ng Chi Lung REREE v v
Mr. Zheng Gang e v v
Mr. Wu Qiyou SHERE v 4

Independent non-executive Directors BIUERNITES
Ms. Wong Ka Wai Jeanne BERE¥t v v
Dr. Lam Huen Sum MEABRIE L v v
Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur EELE v v

The Company will, from time to time, review the effectiveness of
the Group's corporate governance structure and consider whether

any changes.

ERABRARRIEERZEXELRAREZ
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DIRECTORS

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code provides that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to

retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 87(1) of the articles of association (the
"Articles of Association”) of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their numbers is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or
as an additional Director shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment, and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year,
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general

meetings pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Following the resignation of Dr. Lam Huen Sum as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 18 January 2024, there
were only two independent non-executive Directors. As a result,
the Company failed to meet the requirement under Rule 5.05(1)
of the GEM Listing Rules which stipulates that every board of
directors of a listed issuer must include at least three independent

non-executive directors.

Mr. Lin Yaomin was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 17 April 2024, following his
appointment, the Board has re-complied with Rule 5.05(1) with at
least three independent non-executive Directors.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
Mr. Ng Chi Lung is
the chairman of the Board. As the chairman, Mr. Ng Chi Lung

not be performed by the same individual.

manages the Board’s business and activities and provides guidance
and direction to other Board members to ensure that the Board
works effectively and acts in the best interests of the Company

and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company has no chief executive officer and therefore the
daily operation and management of the Group is monitored by
the executive Directors, as well as the senior management of the
Group. The Board believes that there is sufficient balance of power
and authority as there are experienced executive Directors each
overseeing various aspects of the business. In addition, save for
the period from 18 January 2024 to 17 April 2024 where there
were only two independent non-executive Directors, there are
three independent non-executive Directors who are sufficiently
experienced and capable of monitoring the operations of the
Group. The Board will meet from time to time to discuss issues

arising from operations of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets to discuss and formulate overall
strategic direction and objectives and also approve annual, interim
and quarterly results as well as other significant matters of the
Company. Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to

management.
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The Company Secretary assists the executive Directors in preparing
notices and agenda for the Board and committees meetings,
and ensures that the Company complied with the corporate
governance practices and other compliance matters. Annual
meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days' notice
of all regular Board meetings were given to all Directors, who
were all given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda
for regular discussion. Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least
3 days before each regular board meeting or committee meeting
(or such other period as agreed) to keep Directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to

enable them to make informed decisions.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board

procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Minutes of the Board or committees meetings are recorded in
significant detail for any decision and recommendation made
during the meetings. Draft and final versions of the minutes
are circulated to the Directors or committee members within a
reasonable time after the meetings are held and taken as the true
records of the proceedings of such meetings. All minutes are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any

reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials unless prohibited by the relevant legal or

regulatory restrictions.

If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director has a
conflict of interest in a matter which is considered by the Board to
be material, the interested shareholder and the Director shall not
vote nor shall he/she be counted towards the quorum present at
the relevant meeting. Independent non-executive Directors who,
and whose associates, have no material interest in the matter,

should be present at such meeting.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company established the audit committee of the Company
(the "Audit Committee”) on 2 November 2001,
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules and is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee comprises of

with written

three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wong
Ka Wai, Jeanne, Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur and Mr. Lin Yaomin. Ms.

Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne is the chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to ensure the
adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting and financial
controls of the Group; to oversee the performance of risk
management and internal control systems and financial reporting
process; and to monitor the integrity of the financial statements
and compliance with statutory and listing requirements and to

oversee independence and qualifications of the external auditors.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, three meetings of the

Audit Committee were held.

The main duties of the Audit Committee during the year ended
31 March 2024 include:

(@) reviewing the Group's audited annual and unaudited interim
and quarterly results and reports and considering any

significant or unusual items before submission to the Board;

(b) reviewing the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal

of external auditors;

(c) reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk

management system and associated procedures; and

(d) advising on material events or drawing the attention of the

management on related risks.
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The external auditors were invited to attend the said meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from the audit
and financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the

reappointment of the external auditors.

The Group's audited consolidated financial results for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and

requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
On 11 February 2014,
nomination and corporate governance committee of the Company
(the

in place and stead of the previous nomination committee of

the Board resolved to establish a

“Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee”)

the Company, which was established on 27 March 2012 in
compliance with the code provision. Written terms of reference
were published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
has four members comprising an executive Director, Mr. Ng Chi
Lung and three independent non-executive Directors,
Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne, Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur and Mr. Lin

Yaomin. Mr. Ng Chi Lung is the chairman of the Nomination and

namely,

Corporate Governance Committee.

The main responsibilities of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition, including the skills, knowledge and experience, of
the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy; identify individuals suitable and qualified to
become Directors and select, or make recommendations to the
Board for directorships; make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors; and keep the effectiveness of the corporate governance

and system of internal controls of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, two meetings of the

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee were held.

Corporate Governance Report

EEXELRRS

SRR BMEBLFE LAER B RRY
BHRREEMEEZZERBEREEGET
e ltih EXTHRERZETILEMINE
REMZzENZEHREAERD K

$$@ﬁ§:§:@$:ﬁ:+—EEEF

ZRERGAMBEXBEEHEREZES
ROHRREREERZRREBTER Eﬁ
R RMREL (FHITEBIKE

REREEERZET
R-ZF-—NFE_RB+—H EFFHRKIL
FAERLREXERZES ((RARER

BAZET)) UKL ERZS—ZF=
BAZ+tBREBEFUBRXRIIZEAQTRE
ZEg - EEBEBEERB XA REAT
Pt - RERECEELRZEGENEAR
B BEATEERERAER=ZGEBII
HTES IEREXT YEELERME
REE RERLELRAREEEAZE
gEFo

RAMEXEERZEGZIETEATHR
NEFEZRB -RERMER BFERKE A
MR THEREHBERNERZNS
UESXRABZEERE  MESENSE
BMATHEES CTHBEEHAEFSFLH
EREFEANEZHERS MEEIRENE
FEZFZHEREERNEFTSHFLERES
RRpFEEETEEESRABEEZEFEZM
e

RBEE_T_NEF=RA=+—HLEFE &
LREXERZEEHBITTMREE

THBREBRBRAT 2023/2024 F3R

37



38

Corporate Governance Report
TERERERS

The main duties of the Nomination and Corporate Governance

Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024 include:

(@) reviewing the structure, size and composition, including the

skills, knowledge and experience of the Board;

(b) making recommendations on any proposed changes to the

Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

() making recommendation on the re-election of the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the Company's 2024

annual general meeting; and

(d) assessing the independence of all the independent non-

executive Directors.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy on 8 November
2018, which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the

Board. For details, please refer to page 59 of this report.

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group (including
senior management) for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately 46% male and approximately 54% female. The
Group encourages gender diversity across its workplace. To
achieve diversity at workforce level, the Group has put in place
appropriate recruitment and selection practices such that a diverse

range of candidates are considered.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 3 June 2005
with written terms of reference published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
has four members comprising an executive Director, Mr. Wu Qiyou
and three independent non-executive Directors,
Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne, Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur and Mr. Lin Yaomin.

Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne is the chairlady of the Remuneration

namely, Ms.

Committee.
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The role and function of the Remuneration Committee include
the determination of specific remuneration package of all
executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, making
recommendations to the Board in relation to the remuneration
of independent non-executive Directors, and reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of

the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, two meetings of the

Remuneration Committee were held.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee during the year
ended 31 March 2024 include:

(@) determining and making recommendations to the Board
regarding the specific remuneration package of each
of the executive Directors, including benefits in kind,

pension rights and compensation payments, including any

compensation payable for loss or termination of their office

or appointment; and

(b) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board
regarding the remuneration of each of the independent non-

executive Directors and members of senior management.

The Remuneration Committee considers factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, employment and responsibilities in

the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual, interim and quarterly
reports, price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the GEM Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements. The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the relevant accounting periods under applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs, the results of operations and cash flows of
the Group. In preparing the annual, interim and quarterly results
of the Group for the relevant accounting periods in 2024, the

Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies consistently.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to these
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 69 of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company Secretary
has undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional training to

update his skills and knowledge.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company's risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing its

effectiveness.
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The Group’s internal control and risk management systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and manage rather than
eliminating risks of failure in operational systems. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Board, through the Audit Committee,
has reviewed and is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy
of the internal control and risk management systems of the

Group.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Board, as supported by
the Audit Committee, had conducted review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control system for
the year ended 31 March 2024, which covers all material controls,

including financial, operational and compliance control.

To fulfil such responsibility, the management of the Group has
conducted internal audit which includes analysis and appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. The management reviews all major
operations of the Group on a cyclical basis, and summarises
all material issues and findings to the Board and the Audit

Committee annually.

In particular, the Group has established guidelines and procedures
for the approval and control of expenditures, to ensure the
reliability of the financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of
operation and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will review the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function

annually.
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The audit reviews cover all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Results of the audit reviews
are submitted to the members of the Audit Committee for
discussion at the Audit Committee meetings. The internal audit
review reports are then followed up by the management to ensure

that findings previously identified have been properly resolved.

The Board considers that the Group has put in place adequate
measures to perform the internal audit function at different
aspects of the Group. The Audit Committee and the Board
are satisfied with the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk

management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Group has established policy for ensuring that inside
information is disseminated to the public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
Procedures such as limiting access to inside information to those
who need to know and requiring external parties to execute
confidentiality agreements have been implemented by the
Company to guard against mishandling of inside information.
The Group also reminds those relevant personnel and other
professional parties to preserve confidentiality of the inside

information until it is publicly disclosed.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the fees paid or payable to
the auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by

the auditors of the Group were as follows:
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board believes that a transparent and timely disclosure of the
Group's information will enable the shareholders and potential
investors of the Company to make the most informed investment
decision and to have better understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. It is also vital for developing and
maintaining continuing investor relations with the Company's

potential and existing investors.

The Company maintains a website at www.gf-healthcare.com as
a communication platform with the shareholders and potential
investors of the Company, where information of and updates
on the Group's financial information and other information are

available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for which enquiries may be put to the
Board

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone number, fax number, email address and postal
address, in order to enable them to make any query that they
may have with respect to the Company. They can also send
their enquiries to the Board through these means. In addition,
shareholders can contact the share registrar of the Company, if

they have any enquires about their shareholdings.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on
by way of poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company after each general meeting.
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Procedures for convening general meetings by
shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings,
and any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition in aggregate of at least one-tenth of the voting
rights at general meetings (on a one vote per share basis) in the
share capital of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and/or add resolutions to the agenda of a meeting,
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a physical
meeting at only one location, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall

be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders are requested to follow article 58 of the Articles of
Association for including a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above
in the paragraph headed “Procedures for convening general

meetings by shareholders” above.
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Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person,
shall,

recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election

other than a Director retiring at the meeting, unless
as a Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of
the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registration
office. The period for lodgment of the notices required will
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting
and the minimum length of the period during which such notices

to the Company may be given will be at least seven (7) days.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association have been amended and restated with
effect from 5 August 2022. Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has published its latest Articles of
Association on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and

the Company.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Directors have the pleasure to present the annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

DATE OF INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 May
2001 under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as

consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 10 May 2002.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company while its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of general
hospital services in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2024 are set out in

the consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 73.

The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company did not have any distributable reserves as at 31
March 2024 (2023: nil). Under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for paying
distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution or dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. In accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends
shall be distributed out of the retained profits or other reserves,

including the share premium account, of the Company.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
The Group did not further invest in investment property during the

Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Year ended 31 March 2024, no individual customer has
contributed over 5% of the Group’s total revenue. During the
Year, the five largest customers in aggregate contributed to less

than 5% of the Group's total revenue.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or shareholders that owned more than 5% of the issued shares
had any direct or indirect interest in the five largest customers of

the Group during the Year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the largest supplier has contributed to less than
10% of the Group’s total purchases. During the Year, the five
largest suppliers in aggregate contributed to less than 30% of the

Group's total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or shareholders that owned more than 5% of the issued shares
had any direct or indirect interest in the five largest suppliers of

the Group during the Year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group’s success also depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers, suppliers,
regulators and Shareholders. Employees are regarded as the most
important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group maintains
a good relationship with its employees and did not experience any
major difficulties in recruitment, nor did it experience any material
loss in manpower or suffer from any material labour dispute
during the Year. The Group also understands the importance of
maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers and customers
to meet its short-term and long-term goals. It enjoys good
relationships with suppliers and customers and strives to take an

active part in the communities where they operate.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group's has adopted the green hospital development
policy and implemented low carbon strategies in all aspects
of operations in compliance with the requirements by the PRC
government. The Group is committed to environmental protection
and energy conservation. In the course of investment, construction
and operation, the Group has consistently carried out the
operation objective of “Benefiting the society and the populace”
and focused on sustainable development. With reliability,
professional and safety as its objective, the Group possesses
advanced IT program management and technical support of
modern information network and strived to facilitate paperless

office and recycling.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group fully complies with all laws and regulations and
regularly monitors and gathers information about changes in
laws, rules and regulations relevant to the Group’s businesses to
ensure the Group's observance of those applicable laws, rules and
regulations, especially those which may have material impact on
the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date

of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Chi Lung (Chairman)

Mr. Zheng Gang (resigned on 22 August 2023)
Mr. Wu Qiyou

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne

Dr. Lam Huen Sum (resigned on 18 January 2024)
Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur

Mr. Lin Yaomin

In accordance with article 87 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Wu Qiyou, the executive Director and Mr. Lin Yaomin, the
independent non-executive Director, will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming general

meeting.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set on pages 25 to 27 of this report. Details of the
emoluments of the directors and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in Notes 12 to the consolidated financial statements,

respectively.

Report of the Directors
EEgRS

BT EERER

FEEE2EETEREZRZEZR THBIR
BREURAEREBEMZEZR EZRERA
WEFHEN URFRAEEET (LHR) HE
EEEAREZZFERZR - RAURZER-

X
RAFEREEARSAWAADZEED
T

HITESR
SEERE (ZE)

BiLE (R-_SE_=FE/\NAZ+H&#D
REMRKE

BIERTES:

BEREYL

MEREL (R-2_NOF—-F+/\B#D
EELE

MEER T E

RIFABERMAAUBI/F RITEFREK
FERBILFATEEMRRLERRER
RRAELHESR ENGERLESE
EEE

EEARCHREBAEBBESBHNEARES
B5E2/R - BEFERALRSHMALTZMNE
HBEDNENIEEMBRRWE12.

TRHBREMERAR

49



50

Report of the Directors

EEEWRS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS
Mr. Ng Chi Lung has been appointed as executive Director by

way of a letter of appointment with the Company for a period
of one year commencing from 23 July 2018 which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other

party not less than one month’s notice in writing.

Mr. Wu Qiyou has been appointed as an executive Director by
way of a letter of appointment with the Company for a period of
one year commencing from 22 August 2023 which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other

party not less than one month’s notice in writing.

Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director by way of a letter of appointment with the
Company for a period of one year commencing from 1 November
2007 which will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving to the other party not less than one month’s notice in

writing.

Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director by way of a letter of appointment with the
Company for a period of one year commencing from 4 October
2019 which will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving to the other party not less than one month’s notice in

writing.

Mr. Lin Yaomin has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director by way of a letter of appointment with the
Company for a period of one year commencing from 17 April
2024 which will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving to the other party not less than one month’s notice in

writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Related party
transactions” below, no transaction, arrangement or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 March 2024 or at

any time during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year had
the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract
of significance with any controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by any controlling Shareholder or

any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company

were entered into or existed during the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group did not make any charitable and other
donations (2023: nil).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealings by
directors of the Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of

the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the

Company:

EFRFBTHAERTARAR
HiAHEB Z e {n « HHRA A2 R 1R
gz

AR _NE=R=+—H EEKEAT
FETHRAEREAATSEE@MEREZ®E (E
ERBSKBERG (TEBSRBEREM) £
XVER) Z B ~ BRI R EREE P ER IR
B RPAERGAFEISEEREARBTDEEZE
MRz R R X B HIREGEM LT
FRAE5 46 E5. 67 2 R R B EHETT
BEREEEASITHE R AT KRB
ZHRERXBNT

RAEQEI R RAARARR 2

Number Approximate

of shares and percentage
underlying of the total
Name of Director Nature of interest shares Position issued shares
HBET
B& 17 Bz 4B BA AV EEE
ERs EEHE i EH B BAE S
Mr. Ng Chi Lung Interest in controlled 316,391,892 Long 56.13%
corporation (Note)

RERERE REERQBZ DS () wa
Beneficial owner 11,800,000 Long 2.09%

BEmEAA wa
Note:  Solar Star Global Limited is owned as to 50% by Mr. Ng Chi Lung, Mzt : ERERKAERATHEREELE - ZRTBHE

25% by Ms. Ng Si Wing and 25% by Ms. Ng Yin. Mr. Ng Chi
Lung is deemed to be interested in the shares and the convertible
preference shares in which Solar Star Global Limited is interested in
under Part XV of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, other than the interests of a director or
chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above, the interests and short positions
of persons in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Number of
shares/ Approximate
convertible percentage
preference of the total
Name of shareholder shares Position Capacity issued shares
=X £ 5
B 15, wI g RiPEHZ
RERE EhRryA Efi g1 S I=d i
Solar Star Global Limited (Note 1) 316,391,892 Long Beneficial owner 56.13%
ERIRIKBRAE (k1) 53} BmEAA
Ms. Cheng Wai Yin (Note 2) 328,191,892 Long Interest of spouse 58.22%
MEEL T (Mizk2) Ta ACiE M=
New Hope International (Hong Kong) 68,643,507 Long Beneficial owner 12.18%
Limited (Note 3)
WMEZER (B8 BRAE 53} BEEAA
(P 3%3)
Southern Hope Enterprise Co., Ltd.* 68,643,507 Long Interest in controlled 12.18%
(Note 3) corporation
mAREBEERRAE (MIEE3) Fa MEEF R Z
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Number of
shares/ Approximate
convertible percentage
preference of the total
Name of shareholder shares Position Capacity issued shares
HBET
B3, aT iR RinE®Z
R E g E ] Efi 15 BAE S
Ningbo Zhuosheng Investment Co., Ltd.* 68,643,507 Long Interest in controlled 12.18%
(Note 3) corporation
EREREEARAR (MI3) 9=} REESNREZEGD
New Hope Group Co., Ltd.* (Note 3) 68,643,507 Long Interest in controlled 12.18%
corporation
MEZERABRAE (EE3) L=} AN P
New Hope Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* 68,643,507 Long Interest in controlled 12.18%
(Note 3) corporation
FEEEREBBRAD (H53) R WRER AR 2 M
New Hope Asia Pacific Investment Holdings 68,643,507 Long Interest in .controlled 12.18%
Co., Ltd.* (Note 3) corporation
HAZTAREERERAT (H:E3) HE REE AR Z
Lhasa Economic Development Zone New 68,643,507 Long Interest in Fontrolled 12.18%
Hope Investment Co., Ltd.* corporation
("Lhasa Economic”) (Note 3)
NG ER BN A TR EERAT RS RREFARZ m
(ThIfE&RE ) (MI5E3)
Mr. Liu Yonghao (Note 3) 68,643,507 Long Interest in controlled 12.18%
corporation
Bk ir e (Mi5E3) wE SR NG P
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Notes:

(1) The issued share capital of Solar Star is owned as to 50% by Mr.
Ng Chi Lung, 25% by Ms. Ng Si Wing and 25% by Ms. Ng Yin. Mr.
Ng Chi Lung is deemed to be interested in all the shares and the
convertible preference shares (if any) in which Solar Star is interested
in under Part XV of the SFO.

(2)  Ms. Cheng Wai Yin is the spouse of Mr. Ng Chi Lung. Ms. Cheng
Wai Yin is deemed to be interested in all the shares and the
convertible preference shares (if any) in which Mr. Ng Chi Lung is

interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

(3) New Hope International is interested in 68,643,507 shares of
the Company. New Hope International is owned as to 75% by
Southern Hope which is in turn owned as to 51% by New Hope
Group and as to 49% by Ningbo Zhuosheng. New Hope Group
is owned as to 75% by New Hope Holdings, 14.60% by Mr. Liu
Yonghao and 9.09% by Ms. Liu Chang, New Hope Holdings is in
turn owned as to 100% by New Hope Asia Pacific and New Hope
Asia Pacific is owned as to 99% by Lhasa Economic and as to 1%
by Mr. Liu Yonghao. Lhasa Economic is then owned as to 100% by
Mr. Liu Yonghao. Mr. Liu Yonghao and Ms. Liu Chang are deemed
to be interested in the shares in which New Hope International is
interested in under Part XV of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations” above, at no time
during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any
other body corporate granted to any directors or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
directors, their respective spouses or children under 18 years of

age to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed, at no time during the Year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, associated companies, fellow subsidiaries
or holding companies a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company had adopted a share option scheme on 20 April
2002 (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”), which was terminated
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 10 August 2011. For a summary of the principal
terms of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Summary of terms of the Share Option Scheme”
in Appendix IV to the prospectus of the Company dated 29 April
2002.

As at the date of this annual report, no shares are available for
issue under the 2002 Share Option Scheme of the Company.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 March

2024 and 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, no share option was outstanding under the
2002 Share Option Scheme (2023: Nil).
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Following the termination of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, no
further share option may be or has been granted thereunder.

Following the termination of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the
Company had adopted the share option scheme on 10 August
2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”), which has expired on
the tenth anniversary of the adoption date. For a summary of the
principal terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, please refer to

the circular of the Company dated 12 July 2011.

As at the date of this annual report, no shares are available for
issue under the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, no share option was outstanding under the
2011 Share Option Scheme (2023: Nil).

Following the expiry of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, no further

share option may be or has been granted thereunder.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for (i) the share option scheme adopted on 10 August
2011; (ii) the 19,700,000 non-redeemable convertible preference
shares allotted and issued in accordance with the sale and
purchase agreement dated 13 November 2009, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no purchase,
sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities (including

sale of treasury shares) by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on
page 192. This summary does not form part of the audited

consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain transactions which are undertaken in the normal course
of business, are also disclosed as related party transactions (see
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements), but none
of which constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that are not exempt from annual reporting
requirement in Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board has adopted a dividend policy on 8 November 2018,

which sets out the approach in recommending dividends, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the Group’s profits and
for the Group to retain adequate reserves for future growth.
The Company’s ability to pay dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the Group’s current and future operations,
financial position, development pipeline, prevailing economic
environment, contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve
requirements, dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries
and associates, as well as any other conditions or factors which
the Board deems relevant. The form, frequency and amount of
dividend payment by the Company are subject to any restrictions
under the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations of Hong Kong and
the Cayman Islands and any other laws and regulations applicable

to the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 8 November 2018, which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
integrity, management experience, technical skills, industry or
professional knowledge and experience. As at the date of this
report, the gender ratio amongst members of the Board is 4 males
to 1 female. All Board appointments are based on meritocracy,
and candidates are considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee had reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group
had achieved board diversity for the year ended 31 March 2024.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board had adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 8 November 2018, which sets out the approach to
determine the nomination of Directors, the procedure, process
and criteria to be adopted for the purposes of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship, and shall make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular, the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer.

The Company considered that, in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate, the nomination committee of the Board may
make reference to certain criteria, including but not limited to, the
experience in the Company principal business and/or the industry
in which the Company operates, balance of skills, knowledge and
experience on the Board, and various aspects set out in the Board
Diversity Policy.
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The Nomination Committee had reviewed the Nomination Policy
to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Board has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience required for the

business of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024.

REMUNERATION POLICY
The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee and is based on merit,

qualifications and competence of employees.

The remuneration policy of the Directors is decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the Group's operating

results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the code provisions set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March
2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge, information and belief of
the directors of the Company, the percentage of the shares which
are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the total number of

issued shares as at the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD
Details of significant event occurring after the reporting period are

set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statement.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity
against liability incurred by Directors is currently in force and was
in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws
of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report. The
above section form part of this Directors’ Report.

REVIEW OF THE FINAL RESULTS BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group's audited consolidated financial results for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited who will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and being eligible, offered themselves for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Chi Lung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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B &3 0 F A R F
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Good
Fellow Healthcare Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 62 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting

policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO THE
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements which states that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$17,387,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 and as of that
date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$16,910,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on this matter. In addition to the
matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to the Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our

report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER - continued
Key audit matter

B EE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

ME- -BERREREAEEERE

Refer to Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
Statements

H2RESMBHREME15K16

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$16,035,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$2,777,000) and
HK$4,138,000 (net of accumulated impairment loss of
approximately HK$749,000) respectively. We focused
on this area because the balance of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were significant and
these assessment processes are complex and highly
subjective which based on the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such as discount rate
and future revenue. The Group engaged an external
valuer to perform the valuation for the recoverable
amount of the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets.

RZE_NE=A=+—H> BEXEEHEEVE -KE
R EREREEEDFI416,0350008 7T (KN ER
SHREE1E492,777,000% 7T) ’%4,138,0005 7T (&40
PR ReHRERI84749,00087T) - BMF AN ZEEH
ZRERME -BERREREAEEEZGEREK
Mz E TR (EREREENIERBERRERR W
IBERARRNDE) EHAEELTH . BEEECHKES
SNEEMEEMETYE BERIREUREREEED
WEIEEZ EEIE
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BBt EH—&
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAETEABFNAEEMRBEN SR

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets included but were
not limited to:
BMMEEEEYE - BREARBREBEEEZR
EEERZEFBEERRR :

o Engaging our valuation expert to evaluate the
assumption and methodologies used in the
calculation;

s REGEERIGLAEMERNBRRKRAE;

o Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry;

o FHMAFTERM A EURERERBITEMBM LR
FTERKMBEML ;

o Evaluation of management independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectively;

o FMEEEBIUMGEMNEE -EHARETEHN;

o Challenging the reasonableness of key assumption
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry; and

o ERARBRMBEBRITEANHMELNEITER
HRNEEMN; &

o Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o HRBREFRERBABIRNERE T KA -

We found the assumptions, methodologies, judgement
and estimates of the management were supported by
available evidence.
BMEBEREERHNRR
R 32 5 o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon

(the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- continued

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

Independent Auditors’ Report
B2 BUET 3R &

ZE A B st iR S MR REXK
ENEE-8

FRRBEEEEFENETESN &0
TERMESEFHEREY RMAERTEXHE
RIFTERRREEE - FFI7F

o BT EENIRFHERMERLKT
BMBRREFEERERMRAN AR
R RPTEARFUBHSLERRE
UKRERTRRBEENESRE  FR
HASROOERE - AR EEFRIAEY K B
BB -BRER ERRIL HEE
PRAERESIZ £ I R AE S IFEEREE
MERHBEARBERRANRER SR
FERREBRMERHTEANHEREL
B9 EL R o

s  THRAFSHEAMNAIMIES URE
ENEFEF EENLIFE SEE
RERERIRAMMEERER -

e HEBEEFMRATHERNGEMERF
HE st MAMKRENGEM -

s HEERAREKEGHERNIGE
E L A5 5% o ARIBZ P E BN B 51 /R 8 T
EEEFEHRERNBERABEMNEASR
BEM RMAIEERY SHEBENFE
BEEENEEERRE - WRELFIR
REEERTHEEN MBELEEZH
M EhRFAEREIRGEMBRE
PRERKE REAMNEKESE
ARFARERRFEREER - HMH
ERERER UMK S HIEMREHNE
stREE A P RIRFHH B AT AL
H BEEEBETERFELE-

TRHBREMERAR

67



68

Independent Auditors’ Report
18 17 *% B AT 3R

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

BWILZH MRS
AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE BB tiZ S M B ERT|BEK
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ERNEE—E

STATEMENTS - continued
The engagement director on the audit resulting in this HERBIZBMBENEFEBEESES

independent auditors’ report is Tien Sun Kit, Jack. FR# o

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited BE# g EHEMRERAT
Certified Public Accountants BEEEHED

Tien Sun Kit, Jack FH 3 15

Practising Certificate Number: P07364 MEFBERI P07364

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024 BB “ZEMNFAAZ+N\H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

moRmkEMEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EUE —E”=
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
M 5 FHET FHET
Revenue I 25 5 38,962 55,353
Cost of sales SHE R4S (20,288) (28,344)
Gross profit EFH 18,674 27,009
Other revenue Hth iz 7 149 5,235
Other loss Hihgs18 8 (2,075) =
Reversal of allowance for expected HthEWHRIEREEZ
credit losses on other receivables and ~ FEHR{E 518 #E H 1 E1FE
deposits, net 372 287
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (8,918) (13,553)
Administrative expenses THRAX (20,271) (23,754)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets RAFEFAEZZ
at fair value through profit or loss EHMEEZRAFE
(B518) Wz 22 (441) 113
Impairment loss on non-financial assets JE&RLE &E M EE1E 18 (3,526) (574)
Loss from operations EEEEEIE (16,036) (5,237)
Finance costs M% &R 9 (308) (414)
Loss before taxation FRIRATES 1R (16,344) (5,651)
Taxation 18 10 (1,043) (26)
Loss for the year KEEEE 11 (17,387) (5,677)
Other comprehensive expense TEEHM2EMAX
for the year
Item that may be reclassified HEBAJEMDEERZEZ
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on translating MEBIMNMSEEFR 2
foreign operations PERZ=%E (581) (1,315)

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

4= A

wh 3

SmREMEEREZR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fd 5 FHT FHET
Other comprehensive expense TEEHMEEMAS
for the year (581) (1,315)
Total comprehensive expense TEEREMAZERE
for the year (17,968) (6,992)
Loss for the year attributable to: FE LA FEEE
Owners of the Company KATHEEBA (17,110) (5,881)
Non-controlling interests JEER DS (277) 204
(17,387) (5,677)
Total comprehensive expense Bt FEEEmAREEE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company EKRBEE A (17,833) (7,401)
Non-controlling interests JEERETS (135) 409
(17,968) (6,992)
(Restated)
(EE 7))
Loss per share SREE
— Basic and diluted - BEAXREE
(HK cents per share) (=R A 14 (3.04) (1.04)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

B ZNERREEEMBREZ 8-
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EeHBRRAR

At 31 March 2024 W2 -WE=A=+—H

2024 2023
“E-MEFE —_E=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FHExT FET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREZE 15 16,035 9,724
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 16 4,138 4,910
Rental deposits HEES 21 268 =
20,441 14,634
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =78 20 1,063 1,664
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E W zh1a 21 3,761 7,035
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAEHE
through profit or loss EREE 22 237 678
Cash and bank balances RERIRITHEER 23 3,644 17,685
8,705 27,062
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B2 REMENRIE 24 15,510 17,792
Lease liabilities HeEaf 25 3,006 2,498
Borrowings RN 26 7,099 -
Tax payables FET R I - 35
25,615 20,325
Net current (liabilities)/assets nE (AR EERE (16,910) 6,737
Total assets less current liabilities BEHERTEARE 3,531 21,371
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBRRR

At 31 March 2024 R ZZE-WFE=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-@mE —=-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Hd 5 FHT FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBHEE
Lease liabilities HERE 25 2,124 1,996
2,124 1,996
Net assets BEEE 1,407 19,375
Capital and reserves BXRREE
Share capital &N 27 29,168 29,168
Reserves EE (24,811) (6,978)
Equity attributable to owners RATEE ANEEER
of the Company 4,357 22,190
Non-controlling interests R (2,950) (2,815)
Total equity Rz 4E %A 1,407 19,375

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024

and are signed on its behalf by:

Ng Chi Lung
BEH
Director

EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

REMBERRN_T_HNEAAZ+/\HH
EETHEREETIE TR TIHNESFAE
BE .

Wu Qiyou
BHE
Director

EF

Bz HERREREMBREZ D

TRHBREMERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mOE@mEEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 i ZE —_E _ME =B =+—HLEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

FAAREAER
Non-
Share Share Capital Other Special Translation  Statutory Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total equity
Bx  ROEE ExEE  EtEE  BAEE  EREE  iREE  BA6E it FEREE  REEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TEn TEn TER TEn TEn TERT TER TER TER
(Note (@) (Note (b))  (Note(c)  (Note (d))
(aka) (L) () (RE)
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZEME-H 29,168 440,289 295,610 (7,457) (31,315) (35) 1,608 (698,277) 29,591 (3,224) 26,367
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (518 /&7 - - - - - - - (5,881) (5,881) 204 (5,677)
Exchange difference on translating EIENEH 2 ERER
foreign operations - - - - - (1,520 - - (1,520) 205 (1,315)
Total comprehensive (expense)  AEE2E (%) /
income for the year W8E - - = = = (1,520) = (5,881) (7,401) 409 (6,992)
At31 March 2023 K-FZZ£=ZRAZ+-A 29168 440289 295610 (7457) (31315 (1555 1608 (7047158 22190 (815 19375
Loss for the year TEEFR - - - - - - - (7m0 (7,10 @ (17,387
Exchange difference on translating EIGNEH 2 ERER
foreign operations - - - - - (723) - - (723) 142 (581)
Total comprehensive expense  AEE2ARTAE
for the year - - - - - (723) - (17,110) (17,833) (135) (17,968)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=B=+-H 29,168 440,289 295,610 (7,457) (31,315) (2,278) 1,608 (721,268) 4,357 (2,950) 1,407

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024



Notes:

The

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

-n- ;‘

ERBHE

n\7|— l:l

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration
paid for additional equity interest in a subsidiary without the overall
change in the control in that subsidiary and the carrying amount of
share of net liabilities/assets.

Special reserve represents the difference between the Company's
shares of nominal value of the paid-up capital of subsidiaries
acquired over the Company's cost of acquisition of the subsidiaries
under common control upon change in ownership interests in
subsidiaries.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 3.

As stipulated by the relevant People's Republic of China (“PRC")
laws and regulations, the subsidiaries of the Company established
in the PRC shall set aside 10% of its net profit after taxation for the
statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the reserve balance
has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ paid-up capital). The reserve
fund can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors and
by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase
capital.

accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n\7r\ Iﬁ:%/}ll%%

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—2-@mE —ZT—-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 F#T FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation PR AR 18 (16,344) (5,651)
Adjustments for: FAEIEE
Bank interest income IRITH B WA 7 (28) (93)
Bond interest income BEEMEWA 7 — (355)
Written off of inventories MEHEFEE 11 527 =
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BEK
plant and equipment HREZEE 8 2,075 S
Interest expenses FERZ 9 308 414
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEMRSIBINE
plant and equipment 15 2,782 2,872
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 16 3,136 4,192
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets ¥ AF{EAEBHEZ
at fair value through profit or loss ETMEBEEZATE
BE (Ram) 441 (113)
Reversal of allowance HtEWRIERZEZ
for expected credit losses on FEHEESBEREREE
other receivables and deposits (372) (287)
Impairment loss on non-financial assets JFE&RE EREEIE 18 3,526 574
Reversal of provision for legal claims FEERERERR 7,24 - (4,557)
Operating cash flows before movements & B & & S B a1 2 K=
in working capital RERE (3,949) (3,004)
Increase in inventories FEIEm (8) (1,307)
Decrease in trade and other receivables & 5 Bz H fth FE U sk 1& 380 3,181 7,497
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZIRFBIIRE R (L) 2,453 (16)
Decrease in trade and B 5 R E S RIER D
other payables (1,466) (3,272)
Cash generated from/(used in) ¥%PRE/ (FRA) R
operations 211 (102)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BNPETEMRER (1,065) (1,218)
Net cash used in operating activities RS AR R (854) (1,320)

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EUE —EZ=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KRERBZATHE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BT R 28 448
Purchase of property, BEME -BERSKE
plant and equipment 15 (14,491) (2,521)
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HERAFEFAERZ
at fair value through profit or loss EMBESMRIE = 7,816
Net cash (used in)/generated from KREEE (FRR) 8
investing activities REFEE (14,463) 5,743
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEBEESHZRENE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BFE (34) =
Proceeds from borrowings (EEIEEE L 10,419 S
Repayment of borrowings EBEER (3,288) -
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEEaE (2,739) (2,747)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEZHAE FrA)
financing activities REFEE 4,358 (2,747)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and REKRRELHIER
cash equivalents GRL) /1Emn:3%EE (10,959) 1,676
Cash and cash equivalents FMZRERFEEEHIEE
at beginning of the year 13,541 12,337
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SMEEREE) 2 & (441) (472)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of EXRZHRERIREZSHEIER
the year 23 2,141 13,541
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEM 2 Mt AR SR EMBRRZ2—H D -
consolidated financial statements.
SHERERERAR 17
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Good Fellow Healthcare Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 May 2001
as an exempted company with limited liability. The shares
of the Company are listed on GEM (“GEM") of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Its immediate holding company is Solar Star Global Limited
and ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ng Chi Lung, who is
also the chairman and Executive Director of the Company.
The registered office of the Company is Third Floor, Century
Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1103, Cayman Islands. The head office and principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Unit
3309, 33rd Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of
the Company, and the functional currency of most of its
subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in thousands of units of HK$
(HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

The Company acts as an investment holding company while
its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of general hospital
services in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to

the consolidated financial statements.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 April 2023 for the preparation

of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the  Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs"”) - continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

- continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that
give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences — e.g.

leases.

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it
no longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FERAMIIETRMBIRSER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (TEEMBBEEN) RHE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Es14—4&

(“HKFRSs"”) — continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are RAEERFERNRTEEME

mandatorily effective for the current year REENREEITIS &

- continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 EREAG T ENFE125RETRE—

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising SEXZHEERGEHEBZEERIE

from a Single Transaction — continued ZRE-&

In accordance with the transition provision: RIFIE B

(i) the Group has applied the new accounting policy () H®EBEH_TS__ZF£WBE—H
retrospectively to leasing transactions that occurred on RZBERZZHAERZENER
or after 1 April 2022; g ETEUR ;

(i) the Group also, as at 1 April 2022, recognised a (i MIEZZHEMEB—HxEETF
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable EMEFEFRAEEEREAEASER
that taxable profit will be available against which the FZFBRNRRERRNERE
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and KEMIRERIBEEE AT EEA
a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable FE 23R 5 i | 6 81 5% 25 1T 30 R B
temporary difference associated with right-of-use- EERR) RREREEE

assets and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material FEREIAHANER 2 Sk R RRIR
impact on the Group's financial position and performance, WEREBAFE MRAEBREEEER
except that the Group discloses the related deferred tax EREMIEIERIEEEL2,311,0008 7T K&
assets of approximately HK$2,311,000 and deferred tax IEIEMRIEEE492,311,0008 7050 > 1L
liabilities of approximately HK$2,311,000 on a gross basis BREMEIIZERABFRERT L&
but it has no impact on the retained earnings at the earliest ERREIRE-

period presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs"”) - continued
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing

Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set

out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements - continued

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$17,387,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 and as of
that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$16,910,000. Notwithstanding
this fact, the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis as the Group is expected to have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligation as they fall due for at least
the next twelve months from 31 March 2024 based on its
projected cash flow forecasts. The Directors have reviewed
the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024,
including its working capital and bank and cash balances,
together with the projected cash flow forecasts for the
next twelve months from 31 March 2024 and the Directors

consider that the Group is financially viable to continue as a

going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION - continued

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements - continued

Going concern basis - continued

In addition, the Group can also improve its financial position,
immediate liquidity and cash flows, by adopting the

following measures:

(a) the Directors will take action to reduce costs; and

(b) the controlling shareholder has agreed to provide
adequate funds for the Group to meet its liabilities as

they fall due.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liability as current assets and
current liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated

financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements - continued

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share
based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or

value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

asset in its highest and best use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements - continued

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the

inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which

are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

The material accounting policy information applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied

to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the group has control. The group controls an entity
where the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the group. They are deconsolidated from date

that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the group. Inter-company
transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet

respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its

subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Basis of consolidation - continued

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with the Group's accounting policies.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Basis of consolidation - continued

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the

non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity

and attributed to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries — continued

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised, a gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint

venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at

cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business

less accumulated impairment losses.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units ("CGUs")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination,which represents the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating

segment.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit on a pro-rate basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for

goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss

on disposal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of

the goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes

the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as

the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances

an asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group

has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Revenue from contracts with customers

- continued

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract

are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Provision of general hospital services

Revenue from the provision of general hospital services,
which is mainly derived from hospital services provided at
the hospitals, is recognised at a point in time, i.e. when the

related services have been rendered to patients.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of

the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-

lease components as a single lease component.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases — continued

The Group as lessee - continued

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis

over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

J any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms

and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases — continued

The Group as lessee - continued

Right-of-use assets — continued

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line

item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9") and initially measured
at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and included in

the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

Lease payments includes:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),

less any lease incentives receivable;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases — continued

The Group as lessee - continued
Lease liabilities — continued

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

amount expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase option, if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liabilities remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the assets.
Any gain or loss arising on disposal and retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right of use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the

extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right
of use assets — continued

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEMBREREREEREKX
BEHREN &

EXGHBEREN-&

ME-BERRERERESER
548
AREEEBSATEREHEEREA A
EREEZANRSE FHEERAEE
B SRARBRRETSHEEEKEE
BERHHZEE (RRSEEEMN A
B (EARABHRREEZREN MG 5F
HERAAERR RSt RRBEERE
MBEEHFEREE-

b5t BE (HFEEEEAN) BT IO
ERENHEREE IEE RREEE
B FREEHNAREEAKREIZEE - BR
ERGE-RNEENEERTELEE
UHNEEBENRDOEEEE ~&H
SHER—EENNBEEEEEMREE
(BEENEEZEARTELEUNSE
XEERMOECXEENIREE) BZX
MHREEEEMUNTKEIEEE - KOE
BEBRE REBRELEIREZE
UREELEMENSEENREE
BASERERVEMEHENREE (4
BR) REERSKEEMEE - BERE
BEFRARRLERREQAFEREERE
(eIt 8) HEREE MIJEE) &
AN REE-BERTOREEEZ
HEGEMBRREDEEEZEMRER
TEEEBEMUHANEMEE - RERKERD
Ry 8 48 2 FPREST ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right
of use assets — continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and,
where applicable, other costs that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition, is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Taxation - continued

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Taxation — continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related
assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax

liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Taxation - continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes

levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carries at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslating of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Foreign currencies - continued

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency

borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in

order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary

items.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Foreign currencies - continued

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to

profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets
and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences

arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the

obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it

is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Contingent liabilities — continued

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable

estimate can be made.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash
unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer
meeting the definition of cash. Contractual restrictions
affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 35.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the

time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the

receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement benefit plans are charged to profit or loss in the
year incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. The Group has no further payment

obligations once the contributions have been paid.

For long serve payment (“LSP") obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to
be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant

employees.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any

related restructuring costs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Employee benefits — continued

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the

benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)

after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion

in the cost of an asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair

value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is

expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

options reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for

their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group'’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Segment reporting - continued

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type of class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they

share a majority of these criteria.

Segment revenue, expenses, results and assets include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment, but
exclude exceptional items. Segment capital expenditure is
the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment
assets (both tangible and intangible) that are expected to be
used for more than one year. Corporate portions of expenses
and assets mainly comprise corporate administrative
and financing expenses and corporate financial assets

respectively.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued

Related parties

A person or an entity is be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BANBHRRENEBEEREKX

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

BRHREN &

EXEHBEREN-&

- continued

Related parties - continued REAL—-&

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) MEBTIER —HEREBHERE
conditions applies: — continued BEAME:—@&

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are

also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in

the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the financial assets

are presented as “other income”.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

J the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

REMBREREREEREKX
BEHREN &

EXEHHEREN &

EMIA-&
EMEE
EHMEEZHBERRENE

BEUT RIS MEER BRI
AHE

s RNRENRUBMENEZRENEF
BREAAFAENEREE , &

s AHNEMNEEEHELERER
EEAXNETERHREELS
BE2H B

HEUTHRHENEMEEERRATE
BREMEEWES R (RATEESR
Hit2m =5k 5t 8 ¢

e RNRENRUNMENRERERD
ENEBRARNTENEZHMEE
b4

e AHNEMNETEEHELERER
EERAXNETERHREELS
BE2H B

FREEthERMEEBRERATEE
BESIIR ERYERISEMEELZ
B HRERELIIFFFEEREIK
BANEBMBREERNEIREHS
HAABERNEZSHPEINH AN
(RIS R NI E - 6 Chiub= 3= Ny ju)
EEBETFEINERAREREQATEDN
Higgs-

TRHBREMERAR



120

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Financial instruments - continued
Financial assets — continued
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of

short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit— impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting

date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk — continued

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into

account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past

due event;
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets — continued

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower concession(s) that the lender(s) would

not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent

recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic

information.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Financial instruments - continued
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL — continued

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when

formulating the grouping:
. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to

share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the

financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and other receivables and deposits where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a

loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and
lease liabilities) are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

(a)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belongs, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts. Furthermore, the cash flows projections,
growth rate and discount rate are subject to greater
uncertainties due to uncertainty on how the volatility
in financial and foreign currency markets may progress
and evolve.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

4. EHFEEERZEERE
—#
(a) ¥ BRERRHEURERE

BENMGRE
ME-BERREUREREEE
B RBRTERBE @A)
R-MEEEERTRER 5%
B ZA{F L FI B K 5t THBET
R EREARTEREREE
NEAREFPFR ;QBEEREE
REAEHUFTKREIEEE (N2 EH
BE XF IRRFEEREE
EENRRRERENFRE, &
GRFERRGE KRB EENE
ERRER (BRREREEIR
BENRIRE) - EEIAMGEHER
BE (BREEAEEER W lO=E
B AEEGHEERBRTE
FEMANTWREIEE SFEE AR
VEEBRFBAEBENQATE
ENR SRAAKREZERREE
SEARNMIGERE MEMRA
BEEETHE BRAMERR
fhst (BRERERFAPRMER
FEERR) AJEEFETREE
BoltsSh REFRERA - ERE
REREZRRBAFCEEN R
AR KRINETE R ETUNM
ERRNRENTAEEML -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

(a)

(b)

Estimated impairment of property, plant

and equipment and right-of use assets

- continued

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets subjected to impairment assessment were of
approximately HK$16,035,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$2,777,000) and
HK$4,138,000 (net of accumulated impairment loss
of approximately HK$749,000) respectively (2023:
HK$9,724,000 and HK$4,910,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$574,000)
respectively). Details of the impairment testing of non-
financial assets including goodwill are disclosed in Note
18.

Provision of ECL for trade and other
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumption about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group use judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates

at the end of each reporting period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's for trade and other receivables are disclosed in
Notes 32(b).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

5. REVENUE Ui &5

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: FEBXRFEWRZ 2 DNAOT :

2024 2023
k1 - S —-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Revenue from contract with customers HREEBHEEIEZEREGHULE .
recognised at a point in time:

Provision of general hospital services IREAR S M EPRARTS 38,962 55,353

Revenue from the provision of general hospital services,
which is mainly derived from hospital services provided at
the hospitals, is recognised at a point in time, i.e. when the
related services have been rendered to patients.

All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Information reported internally to the chief operating
decision maker ("CODM"), for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods sold or services rendered. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of general hospital services
in the PRC.

Accordingly, the Group does not present separately segment
information. No analysis of the Group’s results by types of
works nor assets and liabilities is regularly provided to the
CODM for review. In addition, all of the Group’s revenue is
generated in PRC and all of the Group’s assets and liabilities
are mainly located in PRC. Accordingly, no business or
geographical segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in the PRC (place of domicile
of the Group entities that derived the revenue). All of the
Group's revenue was derived from the PRC based on the
location of services delivered and the Group's property, plant

and equipment are mainly located in PRC.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 6. DEAR-E&
Information about major customers FTEERNEH
No information about major customers is presented as no HREBE_S NGRS ==
single customer contributed over 10% of total revenue of B=+—BLEER HIBEANE—F
the Group during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. FHAEEAWANTREBEBEI0%

i EREEEREETRNER -

OTHER REVENUE 7. Hthigz
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T THET
Government subsidy (note) BT #EED (MF5E) - 192
Bank interest income RITF B U A 28 93
Bond interest income BHEHEWA - 355
Reversal of provision for legal claims HEERERERR - 4,557
Sundry income IR A 121 38
149 5,235
note: PEE :
In prior year, the government subsidy represented the wage EE - BFHMEEBFEBRNFRE TRR
subsidies provided by the HKSAR Government under the XA I RENITE®MB UEBEER
Employment Support Scheme to help businesses tide over financial COVID-19%% 15 HA R 8 38 B i () 8t ©
difficulties during the COVID-19 epidemic.
OTHER LOSS 8. HfthE5Hs
2024 2023
—S-hNFE _—T_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BERSZEZEIE
plant and equipment 2,075 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. HBER
2024 2023
—F_HNFE _—T-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Interest on: UTFEEZFE:
— borrowings — & 34 -
— lease liabilities —HEaR 274 414
308 414
10. TAXATION 10. #RIH
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on AERNDRERBAEEREATME
profits arising or derived from the jurisdictions in which kSR FHEESFNFEEZAE#E
members of the Group are domiciled and operate. Provision Z2afAEEMMNFER HMiE 2
on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated at the R AN BEDREAERERLE
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group FMTEERZREEL ZREKEAIZE
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and MIRITIREHE -
practices in respect thereof.
2024 2023
—S[mFE "—T_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
PRC Enterprise Income Tax: EEEMRSR
— Under-provision in prior years - BEFEHEELE 1,043 26

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

10. TAXATION - continued
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to loss
before taxation using the statutory rate for the location in
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the

tax expense at the effective tax rate are as follows:

10. RIE— 48

BRAEQTREK B Q@R ERE
AERERFABERRBERAIBENAR
SRAXERBERRIFATNRER
SBHEERWT ¢

2024 2023
—g@mE —T—-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Loss before taxation FRITAIESIE (16,344) (5,651)
Notional tax on loss before tax, BREARMEAREEEZEERE
calculated at rates applicable to WA Z R EHE ZBRIRAT
profits in the tax jurisdiction concerned BEZzZEERE (3,200) (815)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEHBRZBAZRBEE
for tax purpose (85) (2,375)
Tax effect of expense not deductible AN ZRBERE
for tax purpose 2,834 596
Tax effect of deductible temporary RIS A R G R ERE
difference not recognised ZRBRE = 618
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBREBEZRBEE 451 2,002
Under-provision in prior years BEFERERR 1,043 =
Taxation RIE 1,043 26
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BHmRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

10. TAXATION - continued 10. IRIE— 48

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused RERER > AEE A ERERRE
tax losses of approximately HK$20,392,000 (2023: MzHEKRBAREREL%20,392,000
HK$20,028,000) available for offset against future profits. BT (CTE =4 :20,028,0007T) ° B
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the IS Rl B A N =B S o3
unutilised tax losses and the deductible temporary difference T IH R B 2 78 T8 A5 18 R BT 008 B B 14
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included EERRIEEREBEE KREDMIER

in unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$20,392,000 B E$54920,392,0008 T (ZE =
(2023: HK$20,028,000) with expiry dates as disclosed in the 20,028,000 7T) P HE m B AN T &RFR

following table. W o
2024 2023
—2-@mE —T—-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
2029 —EZhE 1,782 =
2028 —EBIN\E 736 777
2027 —E-t+HF 4,915 5,186
2026 —EBIRE 8,954 9,448
2025 —_E-HF 4,005 4,226
2024 —E2OF - 391
20,392 20,028
GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

10. TAXATION - continued

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT
Law”), 10% withholding income tax is imposed on dividend
declared relating to profits earned by the subsidiaries
established in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards to
their foreign shareholders. For investors incorporated in
Hong Kong which hold at least 25% of equity interest of
those PRC companies, a preferential rate of 5% will be
applied. The Group has applied the preferential rate of 5%
as the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are directly held by an

investment holding company incorporated in Hong Kong.

Under the EIT Law and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both

years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the

estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

No provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax, Bermuda and BVI
Income Tax has been made, as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits in these jurisdictions during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

10. RIE— 48

REBEFRECEMBRE (TEEMRBR
) BZEENE-B—HE ®M#E
R [l 32 B B B A B BREX B s A ) H AR
SMNIRREIKBI AR B 0% FRHIFR 1S
M-BREBTREMRILEFTAZS
EABED5%RENKREE  BEK
5% BV 8 BARF o i 70 24 5 [ 7 1 B A9 BfY
BABRHA—HEEEEMAINKRE
ERABEEFA  MAEEIZES%E
BIRREFWIRE

RBEXEMSHREAREEMSHREER
e PEMBARD R MEFEZRE
H%25% ©

REBESBFHNESHRNEMAT > 8FR
EEERMNE2,000,000%8 7Tim A %
8.25% 1 » M8 #82,000,00078 7t 193
FAER16.5%HM - FAREFERM
ERBEFNEDERN R EER
BEIEMZE16.5%HR -Hit > EEKE
EERNGERREHNE2,000,000
BITEB.25% st HEBFBFR > MiBB
2,000,000 T B9 ff 5t FE SR 17 i A1 Bl 3%
16. 5%t EEBFIR/MR

AEBUEAREBFER BRERK
EERELBESAERNEE REABE
TETMERZE_=ZFE=R=+—H
T EERZERFEEBERELEM
FESRFREH o
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BHmRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

1. xEEEHE

2024 2023
—E@mE —=EF”=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Loss for the year has been arrived REERBENMR
at after charging:
Directors’ remuneration (Note 12) EEMNE (fdsE12) 2,249 3,087
Other staff costs: HMBE TR :
— Retirement benefits scheme —RIREFI S B R
contributions 2,428 2,269
— Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind ~ —#& EELREWHIGE 17,992 20,401
Total staff costs BB T 22,669 25,757
Auditors’ remuneration ZEENN =
— Audit services — BT IRT 600 636
Cost of inventories sold recognised HRARZZEEFEREX
as expenses 10,276 12,598
Depreciation of property, M- BRE R FHBITE (Mi5E15)
plant and equipment (Note 15) 2,782 2,872
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) {EB#EEEITE (MizE16) 3,136 4,192
Expenses relating to short-term leases BRAREEEZHX 1,551 929
Written off of inventories WiEFE 527 -

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. EE-FTETHAEBRSHRE
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS IBAEE
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EFERFETHASHMSE
The remuneration of each director for the years ended REENEBEE_T_MEKR_ZE
31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out below: _=F=ZHBA=+—HWLEFEZH
BB RE ST
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees other benefits contributions Total
ik FEREMET BRI B st
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ZEI@mE -2C=F ZEIME -T--F ZETME -T--F ZEF-ME -“FT-=F
HKS'000  HKS$'000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HK$'000 | HKS'000  HKS$'000
TET TER TET TAT TET FAT TET TAT

Executive directors BiTES
Ng Chi Lung BER - - 1,170 1,170 18 18 1,188 1,188
Zheng Gang (note (a)) Wi (H5E() - S 563 1,521 8 18 571 1,539
Wu Qiyou (note (b)) SHA (b)) - - 154 - - = 154 =
Independent non-executive BIEHMITESR
directors
Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne S 120 120 - - - - 120 120
Lau Tak Kei, Arthur ER 120 120 - - - - 120 120
Lam Huen Sum (note (c)) AR (5E(C) 96 120 - - - - 96 120
336 360 1,887 2,691 26 36 2,249 3,087
Notes: izt :
(@)  Mr. Zheng Gang has resigned as an executive director (a) HWHMEEEHERITES BZ
with effect from 22 August 2023. E=ZFEN\BZt+HEEN-
(b)  Mr. Wu Qiyou has been appointed as an executive by REKBELELEEEZETAWMITE
director with effect from 22 August 2023. FHEIEZ=F/\BZ+=H
EEK -
() Dr. Lam Huen Sum has resigned as an independent non- (0 MERELTEHTBIUIERTE
executive director with effect from 18 January 2024. E-HIZ_WNE—A+/\B#E
Ko
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

- continued

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
- continued
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
or chief executive officer as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the directors or chief executive officer
has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments

during both years.

(b) Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals during the year ended
31 March 2024 included two (2023: two) directors.
Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note
12(a) above. Remuneration of the remaining three
(2023: three) non-directors, highest paid employees are

disclosed as follows:

1. EF5 - FETHRASRSRE
BASME &

(a)

(b)

EFRFETHASME -8

RBEE-_ZE-_ONERZIEZ=

ZR=+—HLEE AEALE
MEERITHAHEZTMEUR
SIEMBAEENEAMBRSE
FEBEE FREEERN R

ESRTHRRERRZEARER
REMAMWNE -
EEM %

BE_ZT-_MNME=R=+—HI:
FE AL REHATEERS
(CB22=F MB)EH-KEZ
B & s B8 A EXXMEEE12(a) P o BR
T=%(CT2ZT=F:=4) FES
ZREHEEZMERBNT :

2024 2023
—EME —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&Ex FAET

Salaries and allowances e KRR 2,122 2,122
Retirement benefits scheme RKEFIFHEIMER

contributions 54 54

2,176 2,176

1 42 GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
- continued
(b) Employees’ emoluments — continued

The number of the highest paid employees whose

remuneration fell within the following bands is as

12.

EF - FETHASRERE
BASME &

(b) EEME—4&
MEBRTINEBZESHES
ABITF

follows:
2024 2023
—EUE —E-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 221,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T E1,500,0008 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the senior
management or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

None of the senior management or the five highest
paid individuals have waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

There was no bonus paid or receivable by directors
or five highest paid employee after considering the
Group's operational and financial performance during
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

13. DIVIDENDS
The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: HK$NIl).

13.

BE_ZE_MERZZZ=F=
B=+—HLEE  xE@ALTER
BREEBAETRLGREHFAL
SHMEURSIEMBRERS
EZR N R A% & Sy BRI 4/ 186 o

HMEsSREEABRALEE
AMMREBEZZE_NERZT
—_=HE=HA=+—HLEEE®
ENRERETFAME-

R kAxEBBEE_S_NE=
B=1+—HLEEZKRERGTHE
KE®B EERNLLREHESM
BEMNHEBKRIEA (Z2Z2=

") -

iz2
FABREFALFEZUNBE_ST_NF
ZA=+—HLEEFERERARE (=
B=F I FHT) e
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BigE518
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share EREEEAEREEREA R EEIS
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the THiR IR T ER &
following data:
(a) Basic (a) B7
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=
Loss for the year attributable to ERNBEBEREFEABRGEREE
holders of ordinary shares of B8 (F#7T)
the Company (HK$'000) (17,110) (5,881)
(Restated)
(= 75)
Weighted average number of BERITEBERZMETHH
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) (FRr%) 563,650 563,650

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the year ended 31 March 2024 was adjusted for the
effect of the share consolidation from 2,818,249,944
to 563,649,988.

(b) Diluted
The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss
per share as there was no dilutive potential ordinary
share in issue during years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b)

HE_Z_NE=ZBR=+—H1L
FEZZERMEFE SRR
BEHIRERH2,818,249,944 %
% %4563,649,9880% ©

3
HREBE_SE_NER_ZT_=
F=ZB=+—HIEEERBED
BITHEBELER REREE
EEASKEKAEBAER-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

=N
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. V¥ -BERREE
Machinery Furniture
Leasehold and and Motor Office
imp S Equif t fixtures vehicles Equipment Total
HENERE HBRRE FkEE fat: MAERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THRT FET TET TR TR
Cost 7%
At 1 April 2022 RZBZ=£mB—AH 16,494 12,443 6,295 5,675 5,634 46,541
Additions #E = 1,26 263 = 1,032 2,521
Written-off s - - = = (29) (29)
Exchange realignment EREE (1,047) (1,020) (47 (99) (301) (2,938)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=#=B=+-AH 15,447 12,649 6,087 5,576 6,336 46,095
Additions #E 373 14,108 = = 10 14,491
Disposals/written-off HE /M = (4,149) - (291) - (4,440)
Exchange realignment ERERE (688) (786) (308) (61) (237) (2,080)
At 31 March 2024 RZBZME=A=+—-H 15,132 21,822 5779 5,224 6,109 54,066
Accumulated depreciation and R ERAESE
impairment loss
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZ£MB—A 16,070 6,373 5,476 3371 4,773 36,063
Provided for the year rEERE 722 959 391 568 232 2,872
Written-off s - - - - (29) (29)
Exchange realignment ERHE (1,345) (539) (421) (69) (161) (2,535)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=£=B=+-H 15,447 6,793 5,446 3,870 4,815 36,371
Provided for the year rEERE 65 1,551 177 304 685 2,782
Disposals/written-off HE/ M - (2,083) - (282) = (2,365)
Impairment (Note 18) A (E18) 47 2,463 65 33 169 2,777
Exchange realignment EREE (686) (376) (278) (44) (150) (1,534)
At 31 March 2024 RZB_ME=A=+-H 14,873 8,348 5,410 3,881 5,519 38,031
Carrying values IREfE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=+-A 259 13,474 369 1,343 590 16,035
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=£=B=+-H = 5,856 641 1,706 1,521 9,724
Note: B 5E :
Impairment loss of HK$2,777,000 (2023: HK$nil) has been RBEE_ZE_NF=A=+—HLFECH
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2024. Details of R EEE2,777,0008 T (ZE 2= %
impairment assessment are set out in note 18 to the consolidated Br) cRETGEHFERN RS M BRI T
financial statements. 180
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EFHERE

Leased
Properties
HEmE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2022 RZIZEZZHFWMA—H 10,217
Depreciation provided for the year FERITERE (4,192)
Impairment loss recognised (Note 18) EHERRERE (MzE18) (574)
Exchange realignment PE 52 FA 2 (541)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE_=F=ZA=+—H 4,910
Additions wE 3,308
Depreciation provided for the year FRITERE (3,136)
Impairment loss recognised (Note 18) EERRERE (f:F18) (749)
Exchange realignment PE SRR (195)

At 31 March 2024 R-E_NE=A=+—H

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS - continued

Note:

For both years, the Group leases an office and a property
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
terms of 1 to 3 years (2023: 1 to 3 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for

which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarter. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed

above.

Impairment loss of HK$749,000 (2023: HK$574,000) has
been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2024.
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 18 to

the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$5,130,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$4,138,000 (2023:
lease liabilities of HK$4,494,000 and related right-of-use
assets of HK$4,910,000) as at 31 March 2024. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and leased assets

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Details of total cashflow for leases for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 33.

16. FRKEE—&

P :

RREFEE AEEYHEE—MBAE
R—EYEEEEZA -HESRANE
EHBA—ZE=F(ZT=F:.—%
=F) o MEMRRLERIEEME  Fh#
18R B % 4 = 4B R o 52 78 7E 10 A e 51
RN RE  AEEER
BRNERLEE FRENITERE
o

FEBERME T BSTILAABELY -
A B _NERZE_=F=RA=1+—
H>/EfEEHEEHE EXAREREIE

ERxmEEEESEM -

BE_T_MNE=BR=+—HLFEE
MERRER1E749,0008 T (ZE =
£ 1 574,000 7T) o BETEHFEBEHRN
AR 18o

Ay > T ZME=A=+—H"B

SRIAE & 155,130,000 7T R A RAfE A
B E4,138,0008 T (TS =5 1
E&1&4,494,0008 T RABRERESE
4,910,000 7t) o fH & 1 & I |G N 1E

mARE BHEEEFASHEERER
{RIEF -
BE_ZT_NER_ZT_=ZH£=H8

= — JJ:EFEE@%HEIE%”. B
BEEINHIFE33
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

17.

18.

GOODWILL 17. &
2024 2023
—E_WmF - ——
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHET
Cost [5%:
At 1 April and 31 March MPOAA—HBHR=BA=+—H 146,850 146,850
Accumulated impairment losses RetiFESE
At 1 April and 31 March REBE—H&R=B=+—H 146,850 146,850

Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Note:

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING
GOODWILL

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and
in the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might
be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying value
of the goodwill has been allocated to the CGU which
operate in the provision of general hospital service in
the PRC by Beijing Zijing Hospital Co., Limited (”Beijing
Zijing”) (currently known as It REIHERBRAT) (for
transliteration purpose only, Beijing Huicheng Hospital Co.,
Ltd).

The goodwill associated with Beijing Zijing was fully impaired
as at 31 March 2022.

In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (including allocation of corporate
assets) that generate cash flows are also included in the CGU
of Beijing Zijing for the purpose of impairment assessment.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

18.

BEsE -

BEERENAZEBRESMEHRERK
18I E o

?_EEEEEE (BEEE) mER
-

FEBRSERRETHWEZMBEE
HEASBEETRE EAFRKHE
BB T RERER > §EREAE -

MAENSEMS  BENREEEDE
EXREMBRARAS (TIEREH)
(RBIEREHBRARAE) KR E
REGESUHBRRBVEESEESE -

R-ZE_—_F=BA=+—H BitmE
FEMNBEECRERE-

MRLtimBi EXERERENDE
BERSEBUAREREEE (BFEAE
BEENDE) Ut ALREANREE
EEBEIH - LUEITRIETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING

GOODWILL - continued

Beijing Zijing - Provision of general hospital
services in the PRC

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the recoverable
amount of this CGU is determined by the directors with
the reference to professional valuation report issued by an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers which
were based on a value in use calculation which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-years period, and a pre-tax

discount rate of 11.79% per annum.

The cash flow projections during the budgeted period
are based on the same expected gross margins of 48.5%
throughout the budget period. The cash flows beyond that
five-year period have been extrapolated using an average
growth rate of 7.6% per annum which is based on the
CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for

the market development.

The Directors considered the increasing of the operating
cost, keen competitions among the hospital service providers
when attracting potential patients and retaining recurring
patients, and the suspension of operation of Beijing Zijing
since January 2024 and the operations of Beijing Zijing
remained suspended as at 31 March 2024 and was only
resumed in April 2024 (please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 3 January 2024, 31 January
2024 and 22 April 2024), and assessed the recoverable
amount of CGU based on value-in use of approximately
HK$18,000,000. According to the valuation report, the
carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount and impairment loss of approximately HK$749,000
(2023:Nil) and approximately HK$2,777,000 (2023:Nil) have
been recognized on right of use assets and property, plant
and equipment respectively during the year ended 31 March
2024.

18. FEMEE (BIEEE) RER

Bl —
BREF-RPERUESHERR
L
RBE-S-_ME=A=+—HILF

EritREELBEMNZAREIESERE
ERBEHEECERGEMAERNE
UABRBERAEEAEEHNEEM
BERSEET MLEBRSHREBEERE
BEEE MERBERBEEEERR
HEZHELFRMBEEMGHZ
RERERA URKRATBRESE
11.79%5t & °

HHEARZEEREE HENERE

FEHARNERZERNEF X488 5%t
H RBEREELBUZBEFRRRE
BEEHTRERZEH ZAFHEZ
BEHECRAT 6% FHEERRIE
Eﬁo

BEERA EENABERIGM BIRR
BREFNRKRIIBEEERGEYERE
BEAFAZHINBRZ - EREABE-Z
“—ME—RAEEYEEERNR S NE
ZA=+—HEREKHNEEEERE
EIZ_MENBAMEBEE BF2HE
KRB HAAZZE_MNE—R=H-Z
T_ME—RB=+—HAKR-ZE_MNEFMN
BAZ+ZHZAE) LREGEABEEY
18,000,000 et IREELE M 2]
WEEE - RBHERS REELE
fUZREAEBAETKRESBELREE
R HNE=A=+—HLEEMER
HEERME -BERZED B EDR
ER53849749,0008 T (ZTZ=F . %)
’#92,777,0008 7T (ZEZ=F: %) °
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18.

19.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING

GOODWILL - continued

Edinburgh International Diabetes Hospital
(Hainan) Co. Ltd. (“Hainan Diabetes”) — Provision
of general hospital services in the PRC

During the year ended 31 March 2023, due to the operation
of the international diabetes center in Hainan (“Hainan
CGU") has been terminated, the Group conducted
impairment assessment to compare the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets (including allocation of corporate assets)
of HK$574,000 to its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount has been determined based on its value-in-use. The
Group determined there will be no recoverable amount for
the Hainan CGU and recognised impairment loss on right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$574,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023.

The remaining carrying amount of right-of-use assets
associated with Hainan CGU was fully depreciated during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and was written off due to

end of lease terms.

DEFERRED TAX

18. EMEE (BIEEE) RMER

Bl — 48

BETEERBERHBRMR (8 BIR
28 (TemiERRB]) —RPERE
FatBRRE
RBE_E-_=F=B=+—HLHF
B> BHRAIEE SmEERERREFR O
(TemREEEENM) AEFETH
BFEULLREAREE (BIEATE
ENH) ZREE574,0005% T8 Ha Ik
E&E-rINESENRERLERER
BEE - AEERE RBEE_T-=F
ZR=+—HLEE BHREELE
Rt ENE SRR ERAEEE
ZIR{BEREE#I574,0008 7T ©

HEEREELTBEUARZEREEE
ZBRTHREERBEE_Z_WNFE=A
Z+—BLEFEFRTELEBRER
e o

19. IRFEM I

2024 2023
—EUE ==

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Deferred tax assets IRERIEE E
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEEE

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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19. DEFERRED TAX - continued

The following are the deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

20.

recognised and movements thereon during the current and

19. IRIEIRIE— 4B

UTHEBRDBLEREEE (B8R &
HRAEERBEFEZEE !

prior years:
Right-of-use Lease
assets liabilities Total
EREEE HEAaR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2022 (audited) RIE-__F£MAB—H
(RE1%) - - -
Adjustment (Note 2) A (MfEE2) (2,311) 2,311 =
At 1 April 2022 (restated) RIE-_£MA—H
(& &Eat) (2,311) 2,311 =
(Charged)/credited to profit  (30BREB) st AEHE
or loss 997 (997) -
Exchange realignment BE R aR B 135 (135) =
At 31 March 2023 (restated) MZE_=%£=HA=+—H
(&) (1,179) 1,179 =
(Charged)/credited to profit  (fOFRE) st AEZH
or loss 320 (320) =
Exchange realignment BE 72 FA B 49 (49) =
At 31 March 2024 R-EZME=HA=+—H (810) 810 =
INVENTORIES 20. 78§
2024 2023
—EUE =B==
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T F#ExT
Finished goods BAY G 1,063 1,664

TRHBREMERAR
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. B REMEWRIE
2024 2023
—EmE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Trade receivables (note (a)) B S EWHE (MizE@a)) = 249
Prepayments (note (b)) T FRIE (ME5E(b)) 2,695 3,478
Other receivables and deposits (note (c)) H KRR IEREE (FizE) 1,334 3,677
4,029 7,155
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 8 : TEERE B 183 E
- (369)
4,029 6,786
Less: Non-current portion — rental deposits & : IERBE D —HEHK S
(note (d)) (FF5E(d)) (268) =
3,761 6,786
3,761 7,035
Notes: P E -
(@) Payment terms with customers from general hospital and (a) HEUHBRKEBEREAEREERBE
healthcare and hospital management services are normally FZAMARX—MREROIEIOHAX
payable from 0 to 30 days. e

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

- continued
Notes:— continued

(a)

The following is an aged analysis of the gross amount of trade

21. BHREMBWRIE &

MizE . — 48

(a)

RESHR BEZARZEZBUIR

receivables based on invoice date at the end of the reporting B BRI T ¢
period:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
0 to 90 days 0E90H - 249

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023 under expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 are
set out in Note 32(b).

As at 31 March 2024, the prepayments mainly
represents the advance payments for online search
engine advertising of approximately HK$1,686,000
(2023: approximately HK$2,279,000) and staff
dormitory rentals of approximately HK$610,000 (2023:
approximately HK$945,000)

As at 31 March 2024, other receivables and deposits
mainly represent the deposits for online search engine
advertising services of approximately HK$866,000
(2023: approximately HK$914,000), rental deposits
for staff dormitory and office of approximately
HK$424,000 (2023: approximately HK$311,000).
Deposits as at 31 March 2023 also included
procurement of pharmaceutical products and medical
supplies of approximately HK$1,494,000.

As at 31 March 2024, the non-current portion of
deposits represents the refundable rental deposit of
approximately HK$268,000 (2023: Nil)

REEEMBRELENFESRZE
MEEBEERN - BE-T_MF

—_E_C-F=-ZA=+—HLHE
E2Z B 5 KkHEMEWRENRE
s BEIMIEE32(b) o

RIE_WNE=B=+—H" &
REFTEREESERSIEESE
+3#91,686,0008 T (ZE_=
& 1492,279,00087T) RETIRES
FH£4610,00087T (ZE-=
#9945,0003& 7T)

R-ZE_WmME=HA=+—H'H
HMERFERRES T EIETEE
R BESRFE R E4866,000
BT (ZTEZ=4F:4914,000%
) EIRERBAERERS
#424,0008 T (ZEZ=F ' &
311,00087T) -RZE-=F=A4
=S+—HZRENTEERBEER
BB P fn 491,494,000 7T ©

RIE_ME=B=+—H0 &%
Z2ERHIRBNIETEREEERS
#9268,0008 T (CE-_=F | )

TRHBREMERAR
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. BAFESAHGEZEMEE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
—EMEF =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Financial assets at fair value BATFHEAAESZEHEE
through profit or loss:
Listed securities held for trading: EEBES 2 LhEs
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —NEELFHZRAE 237 678
23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 23. REKRIVITLHEER
2024 2023
—EMEF =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FHET
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTTHEER 3,644 17,685
Less: Restricted bank deposit o ZREIERITER (1,503) (4,144)
Cash and cash equivalent RERREEBEER 2,141 13,541

Bank balances carrying interest at market rate ranges from
0.01% to 0.25% (2023: from 0.01% to 0.25%) per annum.

1 54 GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

RITHEGETEEMNENF0O0I%E
0.25% (ZEZ=F : NF0.01%E
0.25%) stB
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23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES - continued

As at 31 March 2024, cash and bank balances of the
Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
("RMB") amounted to approximately HK$3,222,000 (2023:
HK$14,461,000). RMB is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies in the PRC. Under the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through

banks authorisation to conduct foreign exchange business.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank balances of
RMB1,388,000 (equivalent to HK$1,503,000) (2023:
RMB3,626,000 (equivalent to HK$4,144,000)) was restricted
due to the civil complaint filed with the People's Court
of Qianhai Shenzhen City by China Merchants Hainan

Development Investment Co, Ltd. (Note 36).

Bank balances are deposits with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

23. BERIRITHR—E

MR_E_WNE=B=+—H ' &x&EEZ
ReRBTEHREBEUARYE TAR
B) sHEABA3,222,0008T (28
Z=%:14,461,00087) ZHE - AR
WRPEARTBHRRAINE RIEP
ESEEHRGIREE - EERGES
BHRE ANEBEEESBEREETH
BEHZRTHAREIBRAIINE.

RIEZMNE=ZR=+—H8 HiEER
BERERERRATRFEIFEEE
EAREREFEREBRK AEEAAR
#1,388,0007T (HHE 521,503,000 7T)

ZET=%F: AR3,626,0007T (18
E11%4,144,000% 75) ) BIRTTAE ERH R 45
(Hi5E36) ©

IRITHEERR AN T BERERGCERE
SERIFIRITZER

TRHBREMERAR

155



156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24. B 5 REMEMRIE

2024 2023
—EUE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#Ex FHET
Trade payables B 5 EMIE 1,270 1,709
Accruals and other payables (Note) FEst & A R EMESRIE (M) 14,240 16,083
15,510 17,792
Note: f 5% -

As at 31 March 2024, the accruals and other payables mainly
represents the provision for legal claims of approximately
RMB8,151,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,827,000)
(2023: approximately RMB8,151,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,314,000)) (Note 36), provision of liquidated damages and
costs of approximately RMB1,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,512,000) (2023: approximately RMB1,400,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,728,000)) and accrued salaries of approximately
HK$1,853,000 (2023: approximately HK$2,708,000).

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

RIE_ME=RA=+—H E:tEAKRE
MEMHETEEAZRERBOARE
8,151,0007c (FHE 498,827,000 7T) (=
T-=F  HARKS,151,0007c (BHE R
#99,314,000% 7)) (FizE36) BN ES
REREEHNARE1,400,000c (FHE R
#91,512,00087T) (ZEZ=ZF : HARHK
1,400,000t (FHE 2 491,728,000% 7)) &K
FEEtE & 491,853,000 T (ZE-=F: 4
2,708,000 7T) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

- continued
Note:- continued

Pursuant to the Civil Judgment (defined as below in Note 36)
received on 6 September 2022 which was upheld by the Shenzhen
Intermediate Court (defined as below in Note 36) on 31 March
2023, it was ruled that Edinburgh Hospital Management (defined as
below in the section headed “Litigation involving the subsidiaries”)
shall (a) return to China Merchants (defined as below in Note 36)
the sum of approximately RMB4.9 million, being the unutilised
funds previously advanced by China Merchants pursuant to the
Cooperation Agreement; and (b) pay to China Merchants liquidated
damages and costs of approximately RMB1.4 million. In light of the
Civil Judgment which was upheld by the Shenzhen Intermediate
Court on 31 March 2023, the Group has reversed other payable
in the amount of approximately RMB3.981 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$4.557 million) and transferred the same to other
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented

based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

24. BH REMBEMRIE-&

MizE : — 48

BERZZEZZFAASNBKINERSHIR
2 (EERME36 FHHPRER (EER
TXMEEe) RZE_=ZFE=A=+—H#4
HRA) HETBTEEREE (EXRT
X5 KM B AT M ERER1 — &) fE(a)AiBE
B(EERTXHE36) REFREBHARE
4,900,0007c BB E B ELARE S ERE
EBRNZABAES; ROBEBEREXZGE
HEESRERNARE,400,0007T ° i
FUNHRBRERR B _=Z=F=B=+—
HEFSRESHRAERY  AEEBEOHEM
FERERIEZA AR 13,981,000 (FBE MK
4,557,000 7m) IR ZMESRERE_S
Z=F=A=t+—HIEENHEMEKE-

TXARBRSPRBREZAHP2INZE
FENTRIBZARES D4

2024 2023
—E-MF - ——

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FHExT

0 to 90 days 0Z90H = 882

91 to 180 days 91E180H 644 97

181 to 365 days 181&E365H - 420

Over 365 days #8iB365H 626 310

1,270 1,709

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is in
range from 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days).

BEETERZFHUEERHNFI0E0
H(ZZZ=4% :30F900A) -

TRHBREMERAR
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25. LEASE LIABILITIES

25. fHE&E

2024 2023
—E@mE —=EF”=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Lease liabilities payable: EEHEEAE:
Within one year —FR 3,006 2,498
Within a period of more than one year but —F&ETRBBERELR
not exceeding two years 1,088 1,996
Within a period of more than two years but MEREBFRBB R ELHRM
not later than five years 1,036 -
5,130 4,494
Less: Amounts due for settlement within AR 2B R R4AE [ 2RI
12 months shown under current RRBaRETIT
liabilities (3,006) (2,498)
Amounts due for settlement after FER 1218 B B 4E 1t 27k IE
12 months shown under non-current RIERBEEETIT
liabilities 2,124 1,996

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to
lease liabilities is 7.5% (2023: 7.5%) per annum.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERREEaEZMETFEIEEREXR
AEEIS% (CBEZ=F:75%)-°
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26. BORROWINGS 26. f&™
2024
—E-mE
HK$'000
F#ERT
Loans from a director — unsecured (note (a)) RE—REFZER—EIER (E@Q) 4,500
Other loans — unsecured (note (b)) Hth &R —®|IEHE (EDb)) 2,599
7,099
Carrying amount repayable: FEEEREE -
Within one year or on demand —FERFIFEKR 7,099
Notes: M 5E
(@  As at 31 March 2024, loans from a director were unsecured, (@) RMIE-NE=B=+—H '%kB—%
bearing fixed interest rate at 6% per annum and repayable on EECESZAEIRE > RETENX
demand. 6%t B RIBERMEE -
(b) As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s unsecured other loans by WIE-WNME=B=+—H > &x&£@>
borrowings were classified as current liabilities, and were EIRF NS SESE EALTE
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. E AERF CERIEERER

SHBEERERAT 159
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B7
Number of shares Amount
RIPEE Eoti
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (before &R EE0.0187T (F*ER 17 & HEAT)
share consolidation) and HK$0.05 each REREEO.058T (FRIR15SH
(after share consolidation) %) 2 BER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 RZE--_F#WBE—H-
and 1 April 2023 e S = B il = 04
—_E_=FMA—AH 110,000,000,000 1,100,000
Share consolidation (Note (ii) BRAD & B (M3 3E() (88,000,000,000) -
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=A=+—AH 22,000,000,000 1,100,000
Non-voting convertible preference GREE0.017E 7T (G EHE) &
shares of HK$0.01 each FHREE0.058 7T
(before share consolidation) (RR1HEHE) 2 ERZEATER
and HK$0.05 each B8R (Hfa0)
(after share consolidation) (Note (i)
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 RZEZZFMB—H-
and 1 April 2023 ZEZ=ZFZHR=+—HkK
—E-=FNHBE—H 40,000,000,000 400,000
Share consolidation (Note (ii)) R & 6 (MEEG)) (32,000,000,000) =
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_M&E=RA=+—H 8,000,000,000 400,000

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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27. B —4&

Number of shares

R #A

Amount

]

HK$'00

0

TERT

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
(before share consolidation)
and HK$0.05 each

(after share consolidation)

At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023

Share consolidation (Note (ii))

At 31 March 2024

Non-voting convertible preference
shares of HK$0.01 each
(before share consolidation)
and HK$0.05 each

(after share consolidation) (Note (i)

At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023
and 1 April 2023

Share consolidation (Note (ii)

At 31 March 2024

BRETREBHARE

FREE0.018T (KR R7 S i) &
FREE0.058T
(RRAEHE) 2ZER

RZEZZEMBA—AB-
“E_=fF=ZR=+—8"
—E-=HmA—H

R 15 & B (BiEEEGii)

MZE-ME=RA=+—H

FREEO.01787T (R & G FT) K
SR EE0.0587T
(RRAEHE) 2 ERE
B (H53))

LIE:7:

R-ZBE-__#WBE—A-
EZ=FZHR=+—HkKk
ZE=FNMA—H

R&An & 0 (BEEEGN)

RZE_NE=ZRA=+-—H

2,818,249,944
(2,254,599,956)

28,183

563,649,988

28,183

98,500,000
(78,800,000)

985

19,700,000

985

TRHBREMERAR
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27. SHARE CAPITAL - continued

Notes:

(i)

(i)

The convertible preference shares are non-voting shares and
non-redeemable. The holders of the convertible preference
shares are entitled to receive the same dividends as the
holders of ordinary shares. In addition, the holders of the
convertible preference shares have the right to convert any
convertible preference share into the Company’s ordinary
shares at any time at the conversion price at the rate of 1 to 1
each. The conversion price will be subject to adjustments only

upon occurrence of certain dilutive events.

On 9 August 2023, the directors of the Company
proposed to implement a share consolidation (the “Share
Consolidation”) on the basis that (i) every five (5) issued and
unissued ordinary shares (the "Existing Share(s)”) in the
then existing share capital of the Company of HK$0.01 each
into one (1) consolidated ordinary share (the “Consolidated
Share(s)”) of HK$0.05 each; and (ii) every five (5) issued
and unissued non-voting convertible preference share(s)
(the "Existing Preference Share(s)”) in the then existing
share capital of the Company of HK$0.01 each into one (1)
consolidated convertible preference share (the “Consolidated
Preference Share(s)”) of HK$0.05 each.

Following the passing of the ordinary resolution approving the
Share Consolidation by the shareholders of the Company and
the fulfillment of all the conditions precedent of the Share
Consolidation, the Share Consolidation has become effective
on 13 September 2023. Further details regarding the Share
Consolidation were set out in the Company’s circular dated
23 August 2023 and the Company’s announcements dated 9
August 2023, 11 September 2023 and 12 September 2023.

There was no exercise of any conversion rights attaching to
the Existing Preference Shares or Consolidated Preference
Shares (as the case may be) during the year ended 31 March
2024.

27. R —4&

MiEE

(i)

(i)

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

JHMREERAERZIEROBRTA
EE - REARFTAEAGRERHA
EERFAEAMERZRE 15> AT
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BEBER -MREENREESTHES
TR AT T AR

RIZZZ=ZFN\RBIB xABEFRE
BRRBRORELBERRAERETEL
G)REREENNIBTZEETREK
BrgER TRERK) 5HB—0)
REREMESETZEHEER (TS
Bl 5 R(NBERBDERKRER
FAhEBHEG)KREREMEAETZE
BORRETERZIHATRRESR
(TREEER) GHAE—(WRESRE
E0.05B 2 EHAMRESLR (&4
BRkR) NEEBRRMNSH (TR
‘) -

RAEXAEIREEBIMAERDEHZZ
BRERERERRGEHZEAE LR
BHB ROAGHERZZEZ=5NA
+T=RER -FRRMDEHZE—PH
BERAATHBEA-ZT=FN\A
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28. RESERVES

(a)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the difference between the aggregate net assets of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company under the group
reorganisation in 2001 and the nominal amount of the

Company's shares issued for the acquisition.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
Company had no distributable reserves (including
share premium, capital reserve and accumulated loss).
Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium account of
the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution
or dividend the Company is able to pay its debt as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
dividends shall be distributed out of the retained profits
or other reserves, including the share premium account

and capital reserve of the Company.

28. (#fhE

(a)

ERBZHABKIERQBRE

RZET-FEEEAMKE
ZHBARAZHMEEFRERELR
BMWEETZRNZEEME
MZEHR-

BE_ZE_MERZZZ=F=
B=+—HLEE > AATBED
HAYREE (BERMEE -BX
RERRER) - REHNEHS
ATE (BIEE]) F228 T A AT
ZHEBERRMAKRABRFRRT >
BEEDIRFIRKEBREATEREN
EEENEHEEREEPIHZ
&% A AT Z RN IREIRT A
DIRBEARBH IR FRER AR
BEAATZMEBERMA KEE
BEARQASRBEMNFEMEE (2
ERMEERKRELNRE) BT

THBREBRBRAT 2023/2024 F3R
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 20 April
2002 (the "2002 Share Option Scheme”), which was
terminated by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 10 August 2011. Pursuant
to the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options at HK$1 per offer to any director, employee, any
supplier of goods or services, any customer, any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technical
support or any shareholder of the Group or any investee or
any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any investee, for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. No participant shall be granted an option,
if exercise in full, would result in the total number of shares
already issued under all the options granted to him or her
that are for the time being subsisting and unexercised in
any 12-month period would exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue. The exercise price of the share will be
determined at the higher of the average of closing prices of
the shares on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options; the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant; and the nominal value of the shares. The share
options are exercisable for a period not later than 10 years

from the date of grant.

Following the expiry of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, no
further share option may be or has been granted thereunder.

As at 31 March 2024, no share option was outstanding

under the 2002 Share Option Scheme (2023: Nil).

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME - continued

The Company also adopted a share option scheme (the
“2011 Share Option Scheme”) on 10 August 2011, which
has expired on the tenth anniversary of the date of adoption.
Pursuant to the 2011 Share Option Scheme, the Company
may grant options not less than the highest of (1) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (2) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of the grant; and (3) the nominal value of the share on the
date of grant to any employee of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries including any executive and non-executive
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any
suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers or any person
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or
may contribute to the Group. The total numbers of shares
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the 2011 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the relevant class of
shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in this limit
being exceeded. Any grant of options to a connected person
(including but not limited to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder) or its associates must be approved
by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any
independent nonexecutive director who is the grantee of
the options). No participant shall be granted an option, if
exercise in full, would result in the total number of share
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to him or her that for the time being subsisting and
unexercised in any 12-month period would exceed 1% of
the total number of shares in issue. The share options are
exercisable for a period not later than 10 years from the date
of grant but subject to the early termination of the 2011
Share Option Scheme.

Following the expiry of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, no
further share option may be or has been granted thereunder.

As at 31 March 2024, no share option was outstanding
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme (2023: Nil).

29. FARRESTEI -1
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in funds under the control of trustee. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme,

which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Company's PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Company’s PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required

contributions under the scheme.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was
no forfeiture of retirement benefits schemes contributions
(by employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) in the Group. As
at 31 March 2024 and 2023, no forfeited contribution under
the retirement benefits schemes of the Group is available to

reduce the contribution payable in future years.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts (which
include borrowings and lease liabilities), cash and bank
balances and equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

31.

B E R
FEBEEHEAURRAEDZE
RRERESE TRBEICEFRIE
HERARRERERALR NBEF
B mERZEERBIERTE-

FEFRZEXREHREERS (BEEM
kBE&R) - RERBJITERARER
BREEFAARGRE (BEE#HITR
KR M) ©

Gearing ratio BEXxaAtx
The gearing ratio at 31 March 2024 and 2023 was as RIZENFERZZSEZI=F=A=+—
follows: HzEXRBELERDT :
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Debt (Note (a)) &% (H3E@a)) 12,229 4,494
Cash and bank balances B& RIB1THEER (3,644) (17,685)
Net debt PR 8,585 N/A & F
Equity (Note (b)) B s (FzE(b)) 1,407 19,375
Net debt to equity ratio BEBHERLE 610.16% N/A 78 F
Notes: BEE -

(a) Debt comprises lease liabilities and borrowings as detailed
in Notes 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

As part of review, the management considers the cost
of capital and risk associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendation of the manager, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, the issue of new shares and new debts.

(a) BEHEEIHINREEMBERRIE2S
Reesritz HEBBRMER-

(b) REBEFEBZZHERKRGEE-

REBERZ B2 EEERA EX
AKRERASEERER -RIFEE
ANHERZ AEEREBRMTR
B BTHMRETETEHEEREELR
o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. #fiTH
Categories of financial instruments EMIASE
2024 2023
—E-—mE -—=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFESABGZEMEE 237 678
Financial assets at amortised cost: B Az EMEE !
— Trade and other receivables — B2 REMEWRIAE 1,334 3,557
— Cash and bank balances —RERIRITHER 3,644 17,685
Financial liabilities =AM’
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REBERAZEMEE
— Trade and other payables — B REMBEMRIE 5,170 6,882
— Lease liabilities —HEaR 5,130 4,494

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(a)

Market risk
The Group's activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates,

price risk and interest rates.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity

analysis.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risk.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group has minimal exposures to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need

arise.

32 EMTR-&
MERREERERKE &

(a)

45 L B
FEBZEBIESETERAR
EX -EREARRFRESHZME
JELB

FRA&AR Z 5 B U8R E 2

e

FEBRARZTERBRER
REtERBZ 75 AT EET -

g R R E
FEBZIINERBREM  RERE
EEZABREBZXZ EERE
BXEUERWBRABRZIER
BKstE-sEEBMLLERRAINE
REZ - BERBRZIEH K
R AEBRRBREBREHINER
o MRRBELEREEHAEKR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(a)

Market risk — continued

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity securities and debt instruments
measured at FVTPL. For equity securities and debt
instruments measured at FVTPL quoted in The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Sensitivity analyses

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date.
For sensitivity analysis of equity securities and debt
instruments with fair value measurement categorised

within Level 1.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments and
debt instruments had been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/
lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2024 would increase/decrease by HK$24,000 (2023:
increase/decrease by HK$68,000) as a result of the

changes in fair value of investments at FVTPL.

Interest rate risk
No significant cash flow interest rate risk during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the

borrowings were bearing fixed interest rate.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from bank
balances, deposits and other receivables. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets.

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit risk
is considered to be low as the counterparties are
reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not
have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected credit
loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be close to zero
and no provision was made as of 31 March 2024 and
2023.

In respect of the deposits and other receivables, the
credit quality has been individual assessed by general
approach with reference to historical information
about the counterparties. The Group recognised the
allowance for expected credit losses by assessing
the credit risk characteristics of deposit and other
receivables, discount rate and the likelihood of recovery

and considering the prevailing economic conditions.

32. EMTR-&
MHERKREERERKE &

(b) SEEME KR EFE

FEBZEERBEIERBIRT
B BT REMBKRIE - ZF
HERNREENRTEERE R
BEARRNRREERR

MERRIRITHREMS  ARY
FHAGERFWIRT REER
BRRABRE - REHFAINRBE
TEEL - F It IRITR S TAHA
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 32. M TA-&
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREERRRBE &
- continued
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) =ERMEBRRKET L&
- continued
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment AEBRNNEERAEORTIHE
comprises the following categories: ELLTHER :

Internal credit

Other receivables and

Rating Description deposits
P EBIS E T4 it HithBWRIARZS
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 12-months ECL
does not have any past due amounts
185 = Bz HFEFHNENRBERE BXEEABEEBNRIE 128 AREERHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — non-credit
since initial recognition through information impaired
developed internally or external resources
EH HEREDLR BBEANMERNERSK SRR A E-
SNEREIR (S EEEREE L BiEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
impaired
B S FRBETNEEEBHRERRE EHRFEEERER-EERE
Written-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in  Amount is written-off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
1 3 FRBETNEBARNBREMBREAAEEL MHEEE

BERWKER R
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 32. EM T R4
Financial risk management objectives and policies HMERREERRERBE &
- continued
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) =& R BB E L — 45
- continued
As part of the Group's credit risk management, EaAEBREERGEEN—I
the Group applies internal credit rating for other Do AEREREMERRIEREZE
receivables and deposits. The following table provides HEAAREETHK TRIEHER
information about the exposure to credit risk for other ¥B—m A AN E MW IE
receivables and deposits which are assessed on a RiFENEERBRNBOZER -
general approach.
Gross carrying amount AEAR 1
2024 2023
ZECmE - iy
Other Other
Average receivables Allowance Average  receivables and Allowance
loss rate  and deposits ECL loss rate deposits ECL
Hiti WK TRIE BHEE HithEWHIE BHEE
THHEE ki BERE  TI5EX R FiaRE
% HKS000 HKS000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
Internal credit rating R s E T & FHET FHET TER TEn
Low risk (12-month ECL) BRR (12ERRBEEER) - 1,334 - 53 3,677 369

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the reversal
of allowance for the expected credit loss related to
the other receivables and deposits made by the Group
was approximately HK$372,000 (2023: approximately
HK$287,000).

BE—_Z-_ME=A=+—H1
FE > ANEERBREMEKRRIE
R#EEREZEREEGIERE
##%372,0008T (CTBZ=F 1 4
287,000 7T) °

TRHBREMERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit loss. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.

The Group makes periodic assessments on the
recoverability of the receivables based on the
background and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records and past experience.

The Group, being a provider of general healthcare
services to patients, has a highly diversified customer
base, without any single customer contributing
material revenue. However, the Group has
concentrated debtors portfolio, as majority patients
will claim their medical bills from governments’
social insurance schemes. Certain patients’ costs
will be reimbursed by other government bodies. The
reimbursement from these organisations may take one
to six months. The Group has policy in place to ensure
the treatments and medicines prescribed and provided
to such insured patients are in line with respective
organisations’ policies and within reimbursement limits,
provided fulfilling all ethics and moral responsibilities
as healthcare provider. The Group also has controls to
closely monitor the patients’ billings and claim status to
minimum the credit risk. For those balance not covered
by social insurance scheme, the management assessed

the collectability based on historical patterns and data.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

In view of the history of business dealings with the
debtors and the sound collection history of the
receivables due from them, management believes that
there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s

outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
do not provide any impairment allowance for trade
receivables as the trade receivables mainly represent
public and health insurance programs balance which
the credit risk is considered to be low and expected
credit loss rate are close to zero. There was nil balance
of trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 and no

impairment allowance was provided or reversed.

32. EMTR-&
MHERKREERERKE &

(b)

S8 B B i (B 5T 1d — 48

EZRIBEAZFEHFANES
T 2R e FE U 1R 35 TR IR BY R 4F WK
itk EEERRTEERKESE
BEHEANKEERBRBEGRSE
BUBEEREERR-

HREZBRBRETEREEER
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 32. EMT R4
Financial risk management objectives and policies HZERGEEEERBE &
- continued
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERKKFHEFG—B
- continued
The closing loss allowances for other financial assets RIEZWNERZEZ=F=AH
at amortised cost as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 St—HZzEEHERAEZH
reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows: tEMEEZHAREEREED
VB EEEZHERNOT -
Other
receivables
and deposits
(12m ECL)
HithFE Uk
MIEREE
(12f8 B ¥a 58
E8E51R)
HK$'000
F#ET
At 1 April 2022 R_E__&#W™BE—H 656
Reversal of loss allowance recognised FAREGTERZ
in profit or loss during the year, net EE1EEEREFEE (287)
At 31 March 2023 R-B_=f=RA=+—H 369
Reversal of loss allowance recognised FARBEERZ
in profit or loss during the year, net B iEEEREIREE (372)
Exchange realignment (E R A E 3
At 31 March 2024 R-E_mNE=RA=+—H -

1 76 GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(c)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework
for the management of the Group’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and
reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the

maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities which
are included in the maturity analysis provided internally
to the key management personnel for the purpose of
managing liquidity risk. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables reflect the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables

include both interest and principal cash flows.

32. EMTR-&
MHERKREERERKE &

(c)

RBEEEMRER
EXCRAENBESAREEZ
RREE MEFEERI—ES
BzRBETEAREEER AU
EEAEERZER PHERRAE
ERNBECEERTR - NEHS
BRETRZEHE RITEERMH
BEERE URFEHRAIKRE
BRETREETER LS/
BERBRZIBEBER BUEE
MRBEERE -

TERFAHIFEBZEMER
ZRBEHOHR Et ARRHRTR
MEZEEABZHROM UE
BRpEERME -mETESME
BMs TRRBMERKAERRE
RKfmzxRABZEMEEZ
AMFFEERE - TREVEANLR
REBHREME

TRHBREMERAR

177



178

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies

32. #MTHR-4&

MERMREERRRBE &

- continued
(c) Liquidity risk management - continued ()0 WHEZRAREE-&
At 31 March 2024 R-E_mNE=A=+—H
Weighted
average
effective Within Within Total
interest Within 1t02 2to undiscounted Carrying
rate 1year years 5years  cash flows amount
mETY REER
BRA= —£R -EREN WMELEN RERELE IREfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET TET TET FET
Non-derivative financial liabilities EiEEMAE
Trade and other payables B REMEMTRE - 5,170 - - 5,170 5,170
Lease liabilities RE&ME 15 3,256 1,197 1,088 5,541 5,130
8,426 1,197 1,088 10,711 10,300
At 31 March 2023 R-E_=F=HF=4+—
Weighted
average
effective Within Within Total
interest Within 1t02 2to undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 year years 5 years cash flows amount
MEFH KR
BRA= —ER  —EREA WELFRN RERELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT TET THT THET
Non-derivative financial liabilities EfEERaE
Trade and other payables BAREMEMRE - 6,882 - - 6,882 6,882
Lease liabilities HEaR 75 2,743 2,057 = 4,800 4,494
9,625 2,057 - 11,682 11,376
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Fair value measurements
The following note provides information about how the
Group determine fair values of various financial assets and

financial liabilities.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value
on recurring basis

The following table gives information about how the fair
value of these financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and input

used).

32. EMTIR-4&
ATEHE
WUTFH SR EAMAsERNAEESE
SHEERSHABATEZEN -

BREGEEBEUATEAEZSEH
THEEREMARZATE

TRRERHMABAUNAEEXSFEREER
ERMBRZATEZEN (REMS &
BRERFIBZBARE) -

Fair value  Valuation techniques and
Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs
RUTEBZAFE ATEER “EFIRTEHBARE
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—F-MFE _"T”_=f%
=B=+—-H =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FTHT
Financial assets
EMEE
Financial assets at fair value through 237 678 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
profit or loss an active market
BRATEAABGZZERMEE EAE RIERRT IS ZRE

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2, and there were no transfers into or out of

Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

The carrying amount of all other assets and liabilities were

approximate to their fair value.

RBE_E_MNMERZZEZ=F5=H
=S+ HLEEE tREERTHEE
FIMRE2RZELEEAFEFEE
%o BN EEAFEIMEAREY -

EHEMEEREGRZREELZEAT
EREE=
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  33. RkEREEBHZ 8 EHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRATEEREMEITHZARES
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash HFE BERERIFREEFH KRB
movement. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BEBzEENARESERENRKRS
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows MERTERGEERERERTEAR
will be, classified in the Group's consolidated cash flow BEREEZHRER=EZEE.
statement as cash flows from financing activities.
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
f&™ HEaR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2022 RIZZEZTZTHEM™A—H - 7,363 7,363
Financing cash flows: MERERE :
— Repayment of lease liabilities —(EBEHEaE - (2,747) (2,747)
Non-cash movement: JFIREEE !
— Interest expenses —FER% - 414 414
— Exchange realignment —ERAE = (536) (536)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=#=H=+—H - 4,494 4,494
Financing cash flows: MERERE
— Repayment of lease liabilities —EEHEaE = (2,739) (2,739)
— Proceeds from borrowings — &R HRIE 10,419 = 10,419
— Repayment of borrowings —fBiEEN (3,288) = (3,288)
— Interest paid —BEHE (34) = (34)
Non-cash movement: RSB
— Interest expenses —MERZ 34 274 308
— Exchange realignment —ERAE (32) (207) (239)
— Addition of lease liabilities —fEa&EEm = 3,308 3,308
At 31 March 2024 R-E-_mOE=A=+—H 7,099 5,130 12,229
GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 34. EXKFAEATRZS

TRANSACTIONS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transaction

with a related party:

Compensation of key management personnel
Except as detailed in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements paid to the Company’s directors, other member

of key management during the year was as follows:

PR FHRE M RMROIE M AR i R
B AEBEBREALTBEUTRS !

FTEEEASHMN

MRS MBRARMT12FFAIM TR
QAEEFZHEMI HTEEEME
FRFHFMUT

2024 2023

—E@mE —=ZE”"=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances i RoREE 1,082 1,082
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRG] 2R 18 18
1,100 1,100

The emoluments of the directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company having regard
to individual’s performance, the Group’s performance and
profitability, remuneration benchmark in the industry and

prevailing market condition.

EFZNEREARFHNEE G RRE
ARB - FAEBZEEREBNNRRT T
UERFMERRERHRMERE

TRHBREMERAR
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and
fully paid

35. ZATZEEMBAT

B

KRBR B _MFER-_B_=ZF=A
Z+—HZETERBABFBNT

Proportion of nominal
value of issued ordinary

establishment ordinary share/  share capital indirectly ~ Principal
Name of subsidiaries and operation /registered capital ~ held by the Company  activities
HEARAMEREZ
MM BETRERE BRETEERRAE
WEARRE MUREENMYE  BER/GERES LA TEEH
2024 2023
ZECME ZF2=
% %
Beijing Huicheng Hospital Co., Ltd* The PRC Registered 99.74 99.94  Provision of general hospital services
(formerly known as Beijing Zijing Hospital Co., Ltdf)* RMB20,000,000
TREHERARAD GBI RENERARATY e EMER REGEERRERS
AR #20,000,0007
Edinburgh International Hospital Management The PRC Registered 75 75 Investment holdings
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* RMB6,000,000
ETEERRBIRER (FI) BRAT" HE AfER REZR
AE¥6,000,0007T
Edinburgh International Diabetes Hospital (Hainan) Co., Ltd** The PRC Registered 75 75 Provision of general hospital services
RMB5,000,000
ETEERRERFRR (88 BRAF" HE HEMER RtRE M BRRE
AR #5,000,0007%
# The English transliteration of the Chinese names in this report, # RIFEFMTENLBZAEAXEEZEM

where indicated, is included for information only, and should

not be regarded as the official English names of such Chinese

names.

* Company established in the PRC with limited liability.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally

affect the results or net assets of the Group. To give details

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY - continued

35. X RGBIZEFEME QTS
— 5

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b) BEEEXRIEERERZIERZE
that have material non-controlling interests B AT ZH1E
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREFEEEAFERERZZ
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- KEBZIFZEMBRAT ZEFHE !
controlling interests:
Place of
incorporation/
establishment Proportion of ownership
and principal interests and voting rights (Loss)/profit attributable to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries place of business held by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
SEMARL /AL JEERRAE SRS 2
WEAR %S HERIBERMY BEEEEZRREEZILA JEiRmRTER RN (518 EA RatiFzign
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEZME ZEZZF ZEImE Sy 3 ZECmE %=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TET TERT
Edinburgh International The PRC 25% 25% (268) 214 (2,863) (2,707)
Hospital Management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and
its subsidiary
ETHEEREREE (RY) +E
BRADREMBEAR

Summarised financial information in respect of the

Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

interests is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations.

EMEREAFEREZZEE
EfEARZHBERNBEZHT
WF-FIMBENBREDERRN
WA Z &8R-

TRHBREMERAR
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. ZRBIZTEMEATIHIE

OF THE COMPANY - continued

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

- continued

Edinburgh International Hospital Management

— 48

(b) EREXRFERERZIFEE
MEBABRZHRE &

BETERERBRER R HRL

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd and its subsidiary AREMBAR
2024 2023
—EUEF =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&Ex FET

Non-current assets ERBEE 2 2
Current assets MHEE 3,103 6,326
Current liabilities REIBE (13,012) (15,706)
Equity attributable to owners of NATER AEEER

the Company (7,044) (6,671)
Non-controlling interests EER (2,863) (2,707)
Revenue g - 5
(Expenses)/income (FAsR) WA (1,070) 850
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (B518) EF (1,070) 855
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the AT R AL

Company (E518) /& #) (802) 641
(Loss)/profit attributable to non-controlling  JE3Z A& #E %5 FE(S

interests (B518) /& #) (268) 214
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (518) 5F (1,070) 855

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. ZRTZEXEMB AT %S
OF THE COMPANY - continued — &

(b) BEEAEERERZERSE
MBARZHE—&

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

- continued

Edinburgh International Hospital Management

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd and its subsidiary — continued

BETERERBRER R HRL
BIREBAE &

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Other comprehensive income RATIEEAEEEMET
attributable to owners of the Company U &= 429 613
Other comprehensive income attributable — JEiZERGHE2E FE(S E th
to non-controlling interests EE g 143 205
Other comprehensive income for the year ZHEEHMEEIRE 572 818
Total comprehensive (expense)/income EKRABEEAEGEEZE
attributable to owners of the Company (BR) Wi 42a%a (373) 1,254
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FEREREEZE
attributable to non-controlling interests (BR) Wi 42a%a (125) 419
Total comprehensive (expense)/income rEE2E S KE
for the year 4E%E (498) 1,673
Net cash used in operating activities KRG EEFTRAIRE P 5 (2,645) (848)
Net cash generated from investing activities REEBFISIREF4E 5 4
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents R&RFLEEEBZ
B RER (2,640) (844)
SABEEAARAR 185
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36. LITIGATION

On 9 March 2022, Edinburgh International Hospital
Management (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.* (B2 T EEREREE (F
HIl) BFRAF)) (“"Edinburgh Hospital Management”), an
indirect subsidiary of the Company, received a civil complaint
(the “Civil Complaint 1”) filed with the People’s Court of
Qianhai Shenzhen City* GRIIFI B & EE AR %R by China
Merchants Hainan Development Investment Co. Ltd.* (3
SR ERRAT)("China Merchants”) as plaintiff
against Edinburgh Hospital Management as defendant,
and Edinburgh International Diabetes Hospital (Hainan) Co.
Ltd* (BT EEEERA B (8m) BRAF) ("Edinburgh
International Diabetes”), a subsidiary of Edinburgh

Hospital Management, as a third party.

Pursuant to the Civil Complaint I, China Merchants sought,
among other things, to terminate a cooperation agreement
(the "Cooperation Agreement”) dated 31 July 2020
entered into between China Merchants and Edinburgh
Hospital Management in relation to, among other things, the
provision of funds by China Merchants for the establishment
and operation of the international diabetes center in Hainan
(the “IDC") and the provision of management services by
Edinburgh Hospital Management or its subsidiary to the IDC,
the refund of approximately RMB12.13 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$14.973 million) by Edinburgh Hospital
Management, being the aggregate of funds already
advanced by China Merchants pursuant to the Cooperation
Agreement, payment of liquidated damages under the
Cooperation Agreement and costs in relation to the Civil
Complaint | of approximately RMB1.4 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$1.728 million).

For more details of the Civil Complaint I, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2022.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

36. :fF:R

RIEBE__F=ZRhB xA8—KMH
ENBARET ZEKEERERE (Rl)
BERAR (TBTEHBREE)) W3 —3
BEaFEINFIEEEEARERBENR
ik (REFKND)  BEFABER
BEBEREERAR (BERI) »®
EHAETEERTE METEER
BIENMEATE T & BB REER
(BF) BRAR (BT EEMRHERK)
BE=7-

BRERSBRAK BERESERK (HPEE)
RIIBEREETEEREENR S
ZHELtA=+—H® (HHP8E) 18
HRREESURINES SmERE
FREF O (TEEERAEROI) » UKRA
ETEREREERHEKB RS R EK
ERETOIREEERBMAIINE
et (SRR ETEBRER
EBEHAREM12,130,0007T FBERL
14,973,000%7T) BB E RIRESF
HREBRMNZESRE NG ERE
HFZEBANBESTREREHRAKIBH
ZEBRBRHARE1,400,0007 (FBERH
1,728,000 7T) °

ERRBFRIZEZHE BEEAEA
SHA S __#=A+B2A &



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wra MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 5 E —E_E=B=+—HLEE

36. LITIGATION - continued

On 6 September 2022, Edinburgh Hospital Management
received the civil judgment* (RFE#IRE) (the "Civil
Judgment”) of the People’s Court of Qianhai Cooperation
District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province* (B3R & R IFTE
&1E& AR %P (the “Qianhai Court”) in respect of the

Civil Complaint.

Pursuant to the Civil Judgment, the Court has ordered,
among others, that:

(i)  the Cooperation Agreement be terminated;

(i) Edinburgh Hospital Management to return to China
Merchants the sum of approximately RMB4.9 million,
being the unutilised funds previously advanced by
China Merchants to Edinburgh Hospital Management
pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement; and

(i)  Edinburgh Hospital Management to pay to China
Merchants liquidated damages under the Cooperation
Agreement and costs in relation to the Civil Complaint

in the amount of approximately RMB1.4 million.

For more details of the Civil Judgment, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 7 September 2022.

Following the Civil Judgment, (i) China Merchants has
filed an appeal with the Intermediate People’s Court
of Shenzhen Province* GEHIT R4k AR ZER) (the
“Shenzhen Intermediate Court”) to sought for full
refund of approximately RMB12.13 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$13.863 million) pursuant to the Civil
Complaint I; and (ii) Edinburgh Hospital Management has
also filed an appeal with the Shenzhen Intermediate Court to
rule against the termination of the Cooperation Agreement,
the refund of any sum advanced by China Merchants and
the payment of liquidated damages. On 31 March 2023, the
Shenzhen Intermediate Court has ordered the appeals be

rejected and the Civil Judgment be upheld.

36. I“ﬁ-‘l\

ﬁé_giiﬁﬁﬁf_\ﬂ T ETEBKRE
BREIERERIANEEFEARER
(TAIBZER) BERREFRARZEREH
RE (REFEHRE) -

RBREFHRSE ERES (HPEHE) !

(i) #IEAFHZ

(i BETEEREERNBERERENR
BHH AR M4,900,0007 BDIR /&
BERABRESEHEERETE
BREERNZRBAES; &

(i) BETEBREEOBBRXMNSE
EHBRTZENBEERAR
FRREBRAZERESHENOARRE
1,400,0007T °

ERREHRAZEZEZHE BEE2RAN
ATBHA-E-_—_#hABtHZA

[==3
= °©

REFHAZE ((BEREmFEIT
AR ARERR (BRI P RERT) 128
T SERBEEFHRBEERENA
Emﬁz 130,0007t (1HE#:43913,863,000
B s RINWETEEREEIREZFE
FEEP%&&ME%_LDE EBRIEEER
-**Eﬁ?”%%@fifﬂ’ﬂ&ﬁ#’ﬂlﬁ&i‘iﬁ
BHAEEE - R_E_=F=ZBH=+—
B R A AR A e 8 R B [E] b o b A
HREBHREREH -

THBREBRBRAT 2023/2024 F3R
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36.

37.

LITIGATION - continued

On 13 June 2023, Edinburgh International Diabetes
received a civil complaint (the "Civil Complaint 11”) filed
with the People’s Court of Qionghai City" (&8 AR%E
B2) by China Merchants, as plaintiff, against Edinburgh
International Diabetes, as defendant, and Edinburgh
Hospital Management, as a third party. Pursuant to the Civil
Complaint I, China Merchants sought, among other things,
the refund of the remaining balance of the investment
amount of approximately RMB3.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$3.625 million) by Edinburgh International
Diabetes.

On 11 September 2023, Edinburgh International Diabetes
received the Civil Judgment Il (defined as below in the
section headed
in respect of the Civil Complaint II.
Judgment Il, the Qionghai Court has ordered, among others,
that:

“Litigations involving the subsidiaries”)
Pursuant to the Civil

(i)  Edinburgh International Diabetes and Edinburgh
Hospital Management to jointly return RMB3.2 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$3.625 million) to
China Merchants; and

(i) Edinburgh International Diabetes to pay to China

Merchants costs in relation to the Civil Complaint Il in

the amount of approximately RMB37,000 (equivalent

to approximately HK$41,914).

As the aggregate amount of the litigation claims of
RMB9.547 million (less the restricted deposits of RMB1.388
million as disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements) under the Civil Judgment | and Civil Judgment
Il had already been fully provided, no further provision in
respect of the Civil Judgment | and Civil Judgment Il was
required to be made for the year ended 31 March 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Save for the Civil Judgment Il as disclosed in Note 36 and
the appointment of Mr. Lin Yaomin as the independent
non-executive Director as disclosed in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” above in this annual
report, there are no other significant events after the year

ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

36.

37.

APl — 48
B’:\_v__ﬂi/\ﬁﬂ' E’ﬁTﬁ@”w
WRAKEHBER (FARS) HHHE
Tﬁlrf“%%ﬁr (EBEE RETER
BB (EABE=H) aBBEHmARER
ktﬂ'ﬁ%.ﬂk (TRERKN ) - R
RERRIBEBESK (HPaRE) B
TEREERBERFEERERBENARE
3,200,0007T (1 & 1 493,625,0003 7T) °

RIBZ_ZFAR+—HB BETERHR
BRABIBRARSZFHFKIZESZHR
BNl (EERTX S RMEAQBBIERR
—&) - IRBRFHRE WEEREE
T (HPam) :

) BTEERERRRETEZEER
EEHRAREAREEARE
3,200,0007t (FBE 72 493,625,000
B &

ETEERERFAEBEE M
BREFRRIGENERANARKE
37,0007t (tHE R 4941,91487T) ©

(ii)

HIRREFHREBIRREHREINIETH
FrER R R AEEE AR ¥69,547,0007T G &
REMBRRMEBRBZREGEEA
R 151,388,0007T) BEEHGHRERE > I°
BE_Z_NE=-A=+—HLEEH
BARRFBHRBEIRRFHRBISRE
—TEE-

BREHARESE

BRAFEHRMFEICHRBNREFIREIR
EXTEREN RIS —HRENE
EMBEBREERABIUIFERTESI I
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. AR ZHMBIR R RHEBR
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—EME =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Non-current assets JERENE E

Interests in subsidiaries INIENCIPA S 20,892 20,892
Property, plant and equipment ME-BREREE 13 10
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 574
20,905 21,476

Current assets RENEE
Other receivables and deposits HihEUWRRIE K% S 135 723
Amounts due from subsidiaries LN NG E O] 1,959 3,978
Cash and bank balances RERIRITHEER 270 2,934
2,364 7,635

Current liabilities mEBAaE
Accruals and other payables FEtER REMECIRIE 1,358 1,014
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI ENGIE O] 318,049 321,715
Borrowings EEA 4,500 -
323,907 322,729
Net current liabilities RENB(EIFEE (321,543) (315,094)

TRHBREMERAR
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38.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. "2 B Z MBI R R#ER

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY - continued —&
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Total assets less current liabilities BEHERTREAGE (300,638) (293,618)
Net liabilities BE3EE (300,638) (293,618)

Capital and reserves BXRG#EE

Share capital 15N 29,168 29,168
Reserves (B (329,806) (322,786)
Deficiency in assets BERB (300,638) (293,618)

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Ng Chi Lung
RERE
Director

EF

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

MBHREN_Z_WFB-+/\BHH
EXTEHERRETIZ HHTIES

REREE !

Wu Qiyou
BRH
Director

EF
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RESERVES OF THE COMPANY - continued

38. ZABZMBIRRKEFRER

— &

Share Capital  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
fRipiEE BXfifE AR RHER Ehy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TART TART TET TET
At 1 April 2022 RZEZ"&MB-AH 440,289 295,610 1,452 (1,050,164) (312,813)
Loss for the year ~EERR - = = (9,973) (9,973)
At 31 March 2023 WZE-=#=A=+-H 440,289 295,610 1,452 (1,060,137) (322,786)
Loss for the year FEERH = S S (7,020) (7,020)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=R=+—-H 440,289 295,610 1,452 (1,067,157) (329,806)
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 39. EBHUF
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to ETHEBEFEENMDEUTERFE
conform with the current year's presentation. ZE2WmAR
AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF 40. REHEFESMBERR

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June
2024.

REMBREAN_ZFZOFAAZTN
AEEEEMERIBETE-

TRHBREMERAR
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RESULTS £ |
For the year ended 31 March
HE=-A=+—HLLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECNE —T-=f —B--F T ZTB-EHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FET FET FET FET
Revenue W & 38,962 55,353 54,238 53,886 144,591
Loss before taxation BRI A58 (16,344) (5,651) (7,546) (39,403) (55,716)
Taxation I8 (1,043) (26) (1,319) = (1,088)
Loss for the year EERBR (17,387) (5.677) (8,865) (39,403) (56,804)
(Loss)/profit for the year ELEREE (BB
attributable to: A
- Owners of the Company ~ —Z&ATHEEA (17,110) (5,881) (12,689) (30,183) (49,504)
- Non-controlling interests ~ —JEHERRHE (277) 204 3,824 (9,220) (7,300)
(17,387) (5,677) (8,865) (39,403) (56,804)
As at 31 March
W=A=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECNE —"EBE--F EBEI-F B TEZHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T FET FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HERS&®E
Total assets MEE 29,146 41,696 60,448 191,376 183,171
Total liabilities mas (27,739) (22,321) (34,081) (158,476) (111,404)
Net assets BEFE 1,407 19,375 26,367 32,900 71,767
Equity attributable to owners Z&AF A AEGER
of the Company 4,357 22,190 29,591 40,229 77,425
Non-controlling interests RS (2,950) (2,815) (3,224) (7,329) (5,658)
1,407 19,375 26,367 32,900 71,767

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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